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A. INTRODUCTION 

This is the second appeal involving a single car automobile 

accident that took place on Interstate 5. The Court of Appeals ruled in 

Mattson v. American Petroleum Environmental Services, Inc., 155 Wn. 

App. 1024, 2010 WL 1453997, review denied, 169 Wn.2d 1019 (2010) 

("Mattson r) that fact issues remained for the trier of fact as to whether 

American Petroleum Environmental Services, Inc. ("APES") and driver 

Bernd Stadtherr were negligent. 

On remand, the jury was properly instructed and addressed those 

fact issues, rendering an 11 to 1 verdict against plaintiff Rayna Mattson in 

favor of APES and Stadtherr. Mattson filed extensive post-trial motions 

under CR SO(b) and CR 59 in which Mattson sought to relitigate issues 

already resolved by the jury, the trial court and the Court of Appeals in 

Mattson I. The trial court properly rejected those baseless motions. See 

Appendix. 

Mattson then raised a myriad of issues in a 1 05-page brief in the 

Court of Appeals in the vain hope that one of them might intrigue that 

court. They did not. In a careful, 43-page unpublished opinion the Court 

of Appeals rejected each of Mattson's various claims of error. Now, 

Mattson apparently seeks review by this Court of two issues from the 

Court of Appeals' unpublished opinion in her rambling petition. 
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Mattson fails to demonstrate how review of the unpublished Court 

of Appeals opinion is merited under RAP 13.4(b). Mattson had a fair trial 

and the jury simply did not agree with her. This Court should deny 

review. 

B. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

APES/Stadtherr acknowledge Mattson's 1ssues presented for 

review. Pet at 1-2. Given the discussion of the issues in her petition, 

Mattson has seemingly abandoned a variety of issues including sufficiency 

of the evidence to support the verdict, various equitable issues, causation, 

spoliation, res ipsa loquitur, and counsel misconduct. RAP 13.7(b). 

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE1 

Mattson presents an argumentative, one-sided recitation of facts at 

great length in her petition that largely ignores the considerable evidence 

that contradicted her position. Pet. at 2-18. In discussing the issues here, 

the Court of Appeals more than adequately addressed the facts and 

procedure below. Op. at 1-4. APES only offers additional facts here for 

emphasis. 

1 Mattson has provided this Court a statement of the case that violates RAP 
1 0.3(a)(5) by being argumentative rather than a fair recitation of the facts and procedure. 
See RAP 13.4(e) (requiring petition to meet requirements of RAP 10.3/10.4). Indeed, she 
uses her ovcrlength petition to reargue the facts presented at trial or to make her jury 
argument Mattson focuses only on the facts she presented, not all of the facts in the case 
that must be considered by an appellate court in reviewing a post-trial motion. Moreover, 
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APES is in the business of transporting waste oil products from 

service stations and other businesses to a reprocessing plant where the oil 

is recycled for reuse. RP (3-29-12):622; RP (4-2-12):844-45, 858; CP 

339-40, 383. Stadtherr is an experienced truck driver who has worked as a 

professional truck driver/sales representative for the company since 2003; 

he has been employed as a driver since 2001. RP (4-2-12):875-76; CP 

339-40. 

On July 21, 2003, the day of the accident, Stadtherr started work 

between 1:00 p.m. and 2:00 p.m. RP (4-2-12):849; CP 340-41. He 

arrived at work 15-20 minutes before departing. RP (4-2-12):853; CP 341. 

He noted the exact time in the driving log he keeps in accordance with 

United States Department of Transportation regulations. RP (4-2-12):853; 

CP 341. On the day of the accident, he was driving an empty truck to 

Canada to pick up a load of used oil and return it to the reprocessing plant. 

RP (4-2-12):856-58; CP 344-45. By APES policy and by law, Stadtherr 

was required to conduct both a pre-trip and post-trip inspection of the 

truck to make sure the whole truck was in good working order. He 

performed the inspections. RP (4-2-12):854; CP 341-42. 

Mattson's petition does not conform to RAP 10.4(a), particularly in its repeated use of 
multiple fonts. 
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The truck was a tanker truck-trailer combination. RP (4-2-12):792, 

846-47; CP 345. The hoses on the back of the truck were stored 

lengthwise in a tube running the length of the tanker, and the ends of the 

hose were secured to the back of the truck using rubber straps with hooks, 

referred to as "tie-downs" orbungee cords. RP (3-29-12):720, 721; RP (4-

2-12):792, ~36; CP 393. The hose was secured to the tanker at four points 

using rubber straps secured by hooks. CP 343. The hose itself was nylon 

and had steel wiring running through the hose material. RP (4-2-12):838; 

CP 350-51. 

Stadtherr inspected the tie-downs on the day of the accident to 

make certain the hose ends were secure. RP (4-2-12):936; CP 343. On his 

pre-trip checklist, he noted that the tie-downs were okay. Id. If the tie­

down was fatigued, he would not have been able to detect fatigue with 

visual inspection. RP (3-29-12):732; CP 343. The visual inspection 

showed no problems with the tie-downs. Id. 

After his pre-trip inspection, Stadtherr left for Canada on Interstate 

5 to pick up a load of oil. RP (4-2-12):858, 879; CP 34. As he 

approached Federal Way on northbound 1-5, four miles from the APES 

plant, Stadtherr noticed in his mirror that a hose was dragging on the 

ground behind him. RP (4-2-12):862; CP 345. He immediately pulled to 

the shoulder. RP (4-2-12):862; CP 345-46, 350. 
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Stadtherr inspected the truck and discovered that one of the tie-

downs had ruptured causing one of the suction hoses to come out of the 

stow tube and drag behind the truck. RP (3-29-12):686; RP (4-2-12):792-

93; CP 343. Stadtherr testified that he saw no oil on the roadway after the 

accident. RP (4-2-12}:947; CP 346-47. 

Mike Mazza, the principal stockholder and chief executive officer 

of APES, was called to the Mattson accident scene immediately after the 

accident. RP (3-29-12):621, 623; CP 459, 461. Mazza examined the 

highway behind the truck and did not see any oil on the road surface. RP 

(4-2-12):792, 947; CP 462. Mazza did not observe any "oil spill" clean-up 

effort before the roadway reopened to traffic. Id. No WSDOT trucks 

came to the scene while Mazza was there, and no oil absorption material 

was placed on the road surface near the APES truck. RP (3-29-12):741; 

RP (4-2-12):792-93. APES received no bill for any clean up. RP 462-63; 

CP 462. 

Stadtherr never had a hose come loose before or since this incident 

RP (4-2-12):883; CP 350. None of APES' thirteen trucks ever had a tie-

down rupture and a hose come loose, except for this incident. RP (3-29-

12):684; CP 461.2 

2 WSDOT certifies and inspects APES trucks once per year. CP 460. APES 
services the trucks with Western Peterbilt in Fife, Washington every 6,000 miles. !d. 
The trailers are serviced every time the truck is serviced. Id. 
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As for Mattson's contention regarding oil on the roadway, there 

was evidence presented that there was a far greater quantity of material on 

the road claimed by Mattson than could have come from the empty hose 

that came loose from the empty APES truck. RP (6-8-12):38. There was 

also conflicting evidence about what was on the roadway. The 

Washington State trooper who responded to the accident scene testified 

that in her view the accident was caused by an oil slick on the roadway 

that was as big as one and a half to two football fields long. CP 1578. An 

eyewitness, John Watchie, testified that the substance on the road had a 

strong smell like kerosene or diesel and there was "a lot of it." CP 1282, 

1286. APES's witnesses testified that the APES truck and the hose in 

question were empty, any residue in the hose could not account for the 

large oil spill on the roadway which was near a commercial truck scale, 

the APES truck never carried kerosene or diesel fuel, and in fact it last 

carried wastewater. RP (3-29-12):723, 739; CP 1576.3 

In the first appeal, the Court of Appeals reversed the trial court's 

summary judgment on liability, concluding that the trial court erred in 

deciding negligence as a matter of law. Mattson I at *4. The court also 

3 Mattson contended in the Court of Appeals that the trial court erred in denying 
her CR 50 motion for judgment as a matter of law on negligence and equitable arguments 
associated with negligence. The court rejected her argument. Op. at 4-5. She has not 
sought review of that portion of the Court of Appeals opinion. Pet. at 1-2. 
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decided that the trial court erred in resolving liability as a matter of law 

based on res ipsa. Id. at *5. On remand, after a ten-day trial, the jury 

returned a defense verdict. CP 2656-73. The trial court entered a 

judgment on the jury's verdict on May 4, 2012. CP 2713. Thereafter, 

Mattson filed an extensive CR 50(b)/CR 59 motion. CP 2716-62. The 

trial court denied that motion, RP (6-8-12):36-49; CP 3277-78, and this 

appeal followed. 

D. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED4 

(1) The Trial Court Properly Instructed the Jury on Negligence 

Mattson's principal argument for revi~ is that Instruction 16 was 

an incorrect statement of the law. Pet. at 19-28.6 Mattson is incorrect on 

both assertions, as the Court of Appeals clearly articulated. 

4 Given the nature of the issues she has selected to present to this Court, 
Mattson appears to have abandoned her arguments for judgment as a matter of law 
under CR 50, and instead argues for a new trial under CR 59. A motion under CR 59( a) 
is addressed to a trial cowt's discretion. A court exercising its discretion under CR 
59( a) must determine that there is such a feeling of prejudice in the minds of the jury so 
as to have deprived a party of its right to a fair trial. Aluminum Co. of America v. Aetna 
Cas. & Surety Co., 140 Wn.2d 517, 537, 998 P.2d 856 (2000). This Cowt then reviews 
that decision for an abuse of discretion. Collins v. Clark County Fire Dist. No. 5, 155 
Wn. App. 48, 81,231 P.3d 1211 (2010). The reason for a high burden on a party filing 
post-trial motions rests in the public policy of Washington beginning with article I,§ 22 
of our constitution, which requires that the right to trial by jury be held inviolate. The 
jury bas the constitutional role of finding facts. James v. Robeck, 79 Wn.2d 864, 869, 
490 P.2d 878 (1971). In deference to the key role of the jury, our courts, thus, strongly 
presume the jury's verdict is correct. Sofie v. Fibreboard Corp., 112 Wn.2d 636, 654, 
771 P .2d 711 (1989). The trial court here did not abuse its discretion in denying 
Mattson's CR 59 Motion. 

5 It is difficult to address the precise grounds for Mattson's petition for review 
because she nowhere discusses which of the grounds in RAP 13.4(b) she is contending 
applies to justify this Court's review. 
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Instruction 16 was derived from WPI 60.03, and it is based on 

RCW 5.40.050 wherein our Legislature specifically provided that 

Washington no longer recognizes the doctrine of negligence per se. 

Violation of a statute or regulation is an evidentiary issue only. 

Although Mattson focuses upon the second paragraph of the 

instruction, she assumes regulations were violated when the hose broke 

and some contents of the hose spilled. She apparently thinks the jury had 

to believe her argument and her expert. They did not. 7 

Second, even looking at the second paragraph, Mattson mistakenly 

equates the violation of a federal regulation with negligence. Pet. at 24. 

But the regulations set forth in the instructions do not create a private right 

of action in federal law or amount to strict liability. Rather, by the terms 

6 Mattson does not seek review ofthe trial court's giving of Instruction 12, a res 
ipsa instruction, but contends that Instruction 16 contradicts Instruction 12. Pet at 24-27. 
Instruction 12 is in the Appendix. Mattson does not appreciate that Instructions 12 and 
16 discussed alternate ways of proving negligence. Op. at 19-21. The jury can, and did, 
reject either theory of negligence here. 

7 Mattson argued below that this hose and the residual oil drops are "load" or 
"cargo." APES presented expert testimony that the hose and residual content in the hose 
on the empty tanker truck were not "load" or "cargo." RP (4-2-12):934. At Mattson's 
request, the trial court gave Instructions 15, 17, 18, 19 and 22. CP 1199-1201, 1203, 
2644, 2646-48, 2651. Each of the regulations referenced in the instructions pertained to 
"load" or "cargo" and the jury was entitled to find that not a single one of the instructions 
addressed securing the empty hose to the truck with a bungee. Therefore, the second 
section of the instruction that Mattson complains of is, or could be under this evidence, 
completely irrelevant to the verdict. 
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of RCW 5.40.050, the violation of a regulation "may" be considered 

evidence of negligence. The jury did not even have to find any violation 

of any of the regulations instructed upon because no "load" or "cargo" was 

spilled in violation of any statute, again making the second paragraph of 

the section irrelevant. 

Third, Washington law recognizes that mechanical devices may 

break down without negligence. Tinder v. Nordstrom, Inc., 84 Wn. App. 

787, 793 n.16, 929 P.2d 1209 (1997) (mechanical devices and materials 

can wear out or break without negligence being involved). In the case of 

trucks specifically, if circumstances beyond the control of the motor 

carrier caused a load to become dislodged, the motor carrier may be 

without fault, even if there is a statutory violation (a spill of cargo, for 

example). 

Even if the jury could have found a violation due to residual oil 

drops on the roadway being considered "cargo" or a "load," the instruction 

was proper. Contrary to Mattson's contention in her petition at 23, 

APES/Stadtherr were entitled to an instruction with the bracketed portion 

of WPI 60.03 to afford them the opportunity to argue their theory of the 

case. This Court has long recognized that the doctrine of negligence per 

se is inapplicable where the alleged violator's conduct is excused due to 

factors beyond that violator's control if ordinary care could not have 
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guarded against such factors. In Bissell v. Seattle Vancouver Motor 

Freight, 25 Wn.2d 68, 168 P.2d 390 (1946), the plaintiff's car collided 

with defendant's truck. The plaintiff alleged the truck had no rear lights, a 

violation of law. This Court upheld an instruction that advised the jury 

that if the defendant made a reasonable inspection of the truck and 

exercised due care to determine if the lights were functional, the truck 

owner would not be guilty of negligence despite the statute. The Court 

rejected the plaintiff's argument that he was entitled to judgment as a 

matter of law: 

We may say generally that we are unable to understand 
how the jury could have arrived at any other verdict than it 
did. In the first place, the jury could have found, under the 
facts in this case and the instructions, that a reasonable 
inspection of the truck and trailer was made, and that due 
care was exercised to see that the trailer lights were 
burning. In addition, they could reasonably have inferred 
that the trailer lights were in fact burning until the collision, 
that the force of the collision disconnected one of the wires 
in the trailer light cable, causing the lights of the trailer to 
go out If they did so find in either case, then respondent 
would not be guilty of negligence. 

(emphasis added.) ld. at 84. Brotherton v. Day & Night Fuel Co., 192 

Wash. 362, 73 P.2d 788 (1937) (defendant driver's violation of statute, 

which required trucks to display lighted tail lights after dark, was not 

negligence per se where evidence indicated driver had inspected the lights 

and found them working shortly before the accident); Wood v. Chicago, 
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Milwaukee, St. Paul & Pacific R.R. Co., 45 Wn.2d 601, 608-09, 277 P.2d 

345 (1955) (same). 

In this case, there was ample evidence of due care exercised by 

APES with respect to the inspection of the truck and its equipment to 

support the excuse portion of Instruction 16. Inspection in compliance of 

federal or state regulations of working taillights, a }?ungee, a tire in good 

condition, followed by a failure of tail lights, or a bungee or tire "may" 

excuse (as to a third party) the statutory violation i.e., of a spill on the 

road. RP (4-2-12):934, 936; CP 2645. 

There was testimony from APES' well-qualified expert, Donald 

Lewis, that oil in an empty hose was not "cargo" to which the regulations 

apply. RP (4-2-12):934-35; RP (4-3-12):1032. He also testified that a 

regulation may not be violated merely because a problem ensues on the 

road, using the example of a tire. RP (4-2-12):937-38; RP (4-3-12):1027-

30.8 

In sum, Mattson cannot point to anything in law that makes for 

strict liability to a third party on the part of a motor carrier for literally 

8 Responding to a hypothetical set of tacts posed to him, Lewis explained that if 
a truck tire blew out leaving debris on the roadway, and such debris caused another 
vehicle to have an accident, such event would not result in a violation of a federal 
trucking regulation as long as the driver bad performed a proper pre-trip inspection of the 
tire and found it in good working order. See RP (4-2-12):937-38. This testimony alone 
renders Mattson's assertion in her petition at 21, 22 that the defense presented no 
evidence that any hose problems were due to a cause beyond their control totally false. 
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anything that occurs on the road. The trial court was correct in adding the 

phrase at issue to Instruction 16, as the Court of Appeals determined, 

consistent with this Court's jurisprudence. Op. at 16-19. Review of this 

issue is not merited under RAP 13 .4(b ). 

(2) The Court of Appeals Properly Concluded That There Was 
No Juror Misconduct Here 

Mattson further claims that juror misconduct supports an award of 

a new trial under CR 59(a)(1). Pet. at 29-38. Mattson's claim is based on 

the inadmissible declaration9 of Matthew Besteman, the one juror who did 

not agree with the 11 other jurors that APES was not negligent. RP 1222-

24; CP 3192-99. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying a 

motion for a new trial based on juror misconduct. 10 The Court of Appeals' 

9 A party may not, in the guise of claiming juror misconduct, seek to introduce 
evidence regarding jury dehberations, because such evidence inheres in the verdict and is 
inadmissible. Gardner v. Malone, 60 Wn.2d 836,840-41,376 P.2d 651 (1962). A juror's 
"mental processes" inhere in the verdicl Cox v. Charles Wright Acad., Inc., 70 Wn.2d 
173, 179-80, 422 P.2d 515 (1967). See also, Breckenridge v. Valley General Hospital, 
150 Wn.2d 197, 206-07, 75 P.3d 944 (2003) (Court holds that declaration from juror 
discussing other juror's statements about his wife's emergency room experiences as a 
factor injury dellberations inhered in the verdict). 

Here, Besteman complained that most of the jury panel had their minds made up 
upon entering the jury room. CP 3194. Besteman's declaration also stated that Juror 10 
explained, based on his experience with OSHA standards and the Washington State 
Patrol's inadequate investigation, Mattson had not proven that APES was negligent. CP 
3194. Under Cox and Breckenridge, Besteman's affidavit was inadmissible because it 
addressed matters that inhered in the jury's verdict. 

10 McCoy v. Kent Nursery, Inc., 163 Wn. App. 744, 757, 260 P.3d 967 (2011), 
review denied, 173 Wn.2d 1029 (2012). Issues relating to alleged juror misconduct are 
left to the trial court's discretion as that court is best able to discern if a juror's actions 
prejudiced the jury deliberations and resulting verdict Halverson v. Anderson, 82 Wn.2d 
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decision was well within this Court's decisions like Cox and 

Breckenridge, and Court of Appeals decisions like McCoy. 

Even if the Besteman affidavit were admissible, Mattson failed to 

establish juror misconduct. Mattson contends that Juror 10 failed to 

answer questions posed in voir dire truthfully and that he somehow 

provided "extrinsic evidence." Pet. at 29-38. Mattson mischaracterizes 

the record. At most, the affidavit addresses the procedures of jury 

deliberation and the fact that Juror 10 brought his experiences as a former 

OSHA investigator to bear on the issues before the jury. Neither was 

misconduct. McCoy, 163 Wn. App. at 767 Guror's comment during 

deliberation relaying her past experience and explaining her individual 

thought processes and reasons for weighing the evidence as she did inhere 

in the verdict and provide no basis for challenging that verdict). The 

Court of Appeals properly concluded that such "evidence" inhered in the 

jury's verdict. Op. at 39, 41. 

Besteman's affidavit nowhere states that Juror 10 made any 

statements about his association with OSHA before the jury voted. CP 

746, 752, 513 P.2d 827 (1973). Before a court can overturn a verdict based on juror 
misconduct, a party must make a strong, affirmative showing of misconduct "to 
overcome the policy favoring stable and certain verdicts and the secret, frank and free 
discussion of the evidence by the jury." State v. Balisok, 123 Wn.2d 114, 117-18, 866 
P.2d 631 (1994), cert. denied, 536 U.S. 943 (2002). 
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3192-94. 11 It would appear that his statements were made in connection 

with the State Patrol's evidence gathering at the scene. But if the jury 

concluded that APES' truck did not spill oil on the roadway, any statement 

by Juror 10 was at most surplusage or harmless error as the jury had 

essentially already determined APES was not negligent. 

Jurors come to a jury with real life experiences and their discussion 

of such experiences in deliberations is not misconduct, as this Court 

specifically noted in Breckenridge, 150 Wn.2d at 204. There, a juror 

related his wife's experiences with migraines to his fellow jurors in a case 

in which the plaintiff experienced migraine headaches. This Court found 

no misconduct. 150 Wn.2d at 199.12 

11 Besteman's declaration was also disingenuous. Besteman asserted that he 
recalled two lengthy portions of the court's instructions verbatim; he neglected to point 
out how many of the jurors in the first vote found that there was no negligence on the part 
of APES; he stated only 4 or 5 jurors said anything right after the initial vote and does not 
mention there was another vote in which any juror was persuaded by another - i.e., by 
something Juror 10 allegedly said, for example; he allegedly tried to engage the group in 
a discussion and says it lasted only a brief time. CP 3192-94. As for the hearsay 
attributed to Juror 10, there are no quotes. It is unclear if be was talking about the 
investigation being inadequate to prove the oil came from the truck- a matter that goes to 
causation which is irrelevant as the jury found no negligence, whether the oil came from 
the truck or not Moreover, the Besteman affidavit indicates that the jurors voted 11-1 to 
find no negligence. The fact that other jurors were not receptive to Besteman's viewpoint 
does not support misconduct Besteman was a disgruntled minority juror who disagreed 
with allll of his fellow jurors. RP 1222-24; CP 3192-94. 

12 This view is consistent with numerous Washington decisions. See Richards 
v. Overlake Hosp. Med. Ctr., 59 Wn. App. 266, 274, 796 P.2d 737 (1990), review denied, 
116 Wn.2d 1014 (1991) (juror, who had some medical background and offered her 
opinion to her fellow jurors that the plaintiff's mother's flu history explained plaintiff's 
birth defects, did not engage in misconduct); Chiappetta v. Bahr, 111 Wn. App. 536, 543, 
46 P.3d 797, review denied, 147 Wn.2d 1018 (2002) Guror's personal experiences with 
back injuries not misconduct); McCoy, 163 Wn. App. at 767-68 (no juror misconduct in 
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Mattson's additional contention that Juror 10 introduced "extrinsic 

evidence" into the jury deliberations thereby requiring a new trial, pet. at 

30-33, also fails. While it is true that the jury's consideration of "novel or 

extrinsic evidence" is misconduct and can be grounds for a new trial, see 

Balisok, 123 Wn.2d at 118, Juror lO's alleged comments merely related 

his life experiences and thought processes in reaching his conclusion that 

Mattson had failed to meet her burden of proving APES was negligent. 

CP 3194. There was no introduction of extrinsic evidence warranting a 

new trial. See Breckenridge, 150 Wn.2d at 199. 13 The Court of Appeals 

properly concluded that this "evidence'' was not extrinsic evidence and 

inhered in the verdict. Op. at 41. 

Mattson finally contends that because Juror 10 failed to disclose 

his long past prior employment as an OSHA investigator during voir dire 

and made reference to his experiences during jury deliberations, a new 

trial was warranted. Pet. at 33-38. That is not so. Juror 10 did not 

the face of allegations by the plaintiffs that the jury procedures were improper and one 
juror spoke of her problems with the County on permitting, and another spoke of his 
experience with clay pipes). 

13 Juror lO's alleged mention of his past experience with OSHA standards was 
purportedly relayed in the context of confirming the inadequacy of the State Patrol's 
investigation of the accident. CP 3194. Such comments were not outside the evidence. 
APES argued at trial that the accident investigation was inadequate, and the evidence 
supported that contention. RP 1191, 1201; CP 1574 (no measurements taken at accident 
scene). Juror IO's alleged comments merely reflected that his life experience comported 
with the evidence presented on the matter and revealed his thought processes in reaching 
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willfully fail to disclose material information in response to voir dire 

inquiries. Rather, Mattson cannot establish the first prong of the 

McDonough test regarding improper responses in voir dire because Juror 

10 was never asked the appropriate question to reveal such background. 14 

As the Court of Appeals discerned, op. at 40-41, none of the questions 

posed to Juror 10 indicated that Juror 10 failed to honestly answer any 

question put to him. 

Mattson's complaints to the Court of Appeals were: the juror 

questionnaires asked about employment history in listed fields including 

"law enforcement;" APES' counsel asked the potential jmors if anyone 

had investigation experience; Mattson's counsel asked Juror 10 if he had 

"any concerns" about anything discussed in voir dire; and the trial court 

and counsel asked the jurors if there was anyone who would not follow the 

his conclusion. There is no indication that he applied a different legal standard or 
introduced novel evidence into the dehberations. 

J.
4 To obtain a new trial for a juror's failure to speak during voir dire, the party 

asserting juror misconduct ''must prove (1) that 'a juror failed to answer honestly a 
material question on voir dire' and (2) that 'a correct response would have provided a 
valid basis for a challenge for cause.'" In re Detention of Broten, 130 Wn. App. 326, 
337, 122 P.3d 942 (2005), review denied, 158 Wn.2d 1010 (2006) (adding italics) 
(quoting McDonough Power Equip., Inc. v. Greenwood, 464 U.S. 548, 553, 556, 104 S. 
Ct 845, 78 L.Ed.2d 663 (1984)). As noted in Broten, "'[t]o invalidate the result of a 3-
week trial because of a juror's mistaken, though honest, response to a question, is to insist 
on something closer to perfection than our judicial system can be expected to give.'" 
Broten, 130 Wn. App. at 337 n.4 (quoting McDonough, 464 U.S. at 555). Mattson did 
not prove that Juror 10 gave a dishonest answer at voir dire. 
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law as instructed by the court. See Br. of Appellant at 102-03; RP 300, 

365-68, 421; CP 38. 

None of these inquiries obliged or suggested that Juror 10 should 

reveal his past employment experience as a former OSHA investigator. 

The questionnaire's inquiry about "law enforcement" clearly asked if any 

juror had been a police officer. CP 38 [sealed]. 15 APES' counsel's 

question to potential jurors was actually: "Any of the jurors have any 

investigative experience as a private investigator, as a member of law 

enforcement, investigating a potential crime or an accident, anything of 

that nature?" RP 365-66. As asked, that question did not suggest that 

Juror lO's past experience as an OSHA investigator need be revealed. The 

same is true for plaintiff's counsel's inquiry whether Juror 10 had "any 

concerns" about matters discussed in vor dire. RP 421. Finally, there is 

no indication that Juror 10 failed to follow the law as instructed by the 

court. As discussed above, Juror 10 merely divulged that his decision on 

the verdict comported with his life experience.16 

15 The colloquial understanding of law enforcement usually means a sworn 
officer. 

16 Mattson's petition relies principally upon State v. Cho, 108 Wn. App. 315, 30 
P.3d 496 (2001), a criminal case in which a former police officer failed to disclose his 
former service as a police officer in response to a specific question regarding former 
employment as a police officer, according to the trial court's recollection of voir dire 
questions. Id. at 326-27. Moreover, there was direct evidence that the juror 
misrepresented his history in order to be seated on the jury. Id at 326. Thus, Cho is 
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The trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying Mattson's CR 

59 motion for a new trial, and the Court of Appeals carefully and properly 

analyzed the issue, affirming the trial court. Op. at 36-41. Review is not 

merited on this issue. 

(3) Mattson's Notice of Appeal to the Court of Appeals Was 
Untimely 

This Court could conclude that review is not necessary here 

because Mattson's original notice of appeal was untimely and the Court of 

Appeals lacked jurisdiction to even consider Mattson's appea1.17 

Mattson filed her notice of appeal late, and filed a motion in the 

Court of Appeals asking it to accept her late filing based on alleged 

confusion of her counsel and her staff regarding thee-filing process in the 

Pierce County Superior Court LINX system. APES opposed the late 

filing. In a notation ruling, the Commissioner pennitted the late filing. 

APES filed a motion to modify, which a Division IT panel denied. That 

was error. 

The inability of Mattson's counsel or her staff to navigate Pierce 

County's e-filing system is not the type of "extraordinary circumstance" 

distinguishable from the facts here where Juror 10 answered the question posed to him 
accurately. 

17 This Court may deny review on the basis of any issues presented below as it 
may affirm the trial court on any grounds supported by the record. Burnet v. Spokane 
Ambulance, 131 Wn.2d 484,493, 933 P.2d 1036 (1997). 
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under RAP 18.8(b) that warrants excusing the 30-day time limit of RAP 

5.2(e). 

Numerous appellate court decision have indicated that RAP 

18.8(b) is not easily satisfied in this regard. See, e.g., Reichelt v. Raymark 

Indus., Inc., 52 Wn. App. 763, 765, 764 P.2d 653 (1988); Beckman ex rel. 

Beckman v. State, Dep't of Soc. & Health Servs., 102 Wn. App. 687, 693, 

11 P.3d 313 (2<;)00). Negligence of a party is not an "extraordinary 

circumstance." !d. Similarly, internal office management problems do not 

meet the test. Id. at 695. 

Mattson's notice of appeal to the Court of Appeals was 2 weeks 

late. No "extraordinary circumstance" under RAP 5.2(e) justified a tardy 

filing. This is another basis upon which this Court could decline to accept 

review here. 

E. CONCLUSION 

The jury was properly instructed by the trial court on the law and it 

exonerated APES and Stadtherr from liability, as the Court of Appeals 

ruled in its unpublished opinion. Mattson's arguments for review by this 

Court are baseless under RAP 13.4(b). The jury's verdict should stand. 
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Instruction Number 12: 

If you find that 
(1) the collision in this case is of a kind that ordinarily 

does not happen in the absence of someone's 
negligence; and 

(2) the collision was caused by an agency or 
instrumentality within the exclusive control of the 
Defendant(s ); 

then, in the absence of satisfactory explanation, you may infer, but you are 
not required to infer, that the Defendant(s) were negligent. 

CP 2641. 

Instruction Number 16: 

The violation, if any of a statute or regulation is not 
necessarily negligence, but may be considered by you as evidence 
in detennining negligence. 

Such a violation may be excused if it is due to some cause beyond 
the violator's control, and that ordinary care could not have guarded 
against. 

CP 2645. 
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1 was an innocent victim here of the tort-feasors. And 

2 that the defendants' own expert, along with our expert, 

3 admitted that as a federal motor carrier there was a 

4 nondelegable duty as to safety. They failed to do that. 

5 They failed to oblige that. That failed to show any 

6 evidence or reasonable inference therefrom to defeat a 

7 verdict of negligence. 

B And when you combine everythin·g, and then you take 

9 the declaration of Mr. Besteman, ·again, Ms. Mattson did 

10 not receive a fair trial in this case. 

11· THE COURT: 1 read this with a great deal 

12 of -- I spent a great deal of time on that. And I'm more 

13 than glad to do that. I'm not saying that negatively at 

14 all. I understand there's a great deal at risk here and 

.15 ·a great deal at stake here. And I did hear the trial, 

16 and I don't think anybody disagrees that the plaintiff is 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

an innocent victim. There's no disagreement about that 

at all. 

Couple things that went into my analysis of this, and 

is the quote provided by both parties, but I think it's 

well-known to most practitioners who have ever done jury 

trials particularly in civil cases, but maybe criminal as 

well. Quote was provided by both parties., and that is 

"The pa~ty who is seeking to set aside a jury verdict is 

required to admit the truth of the opponent's evidence 
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1 and all inferences that can reasonably be drawn therefore 

2 and requires the evidence to be interpreted most strongly 

3 against that party." 

4 And most favorably in this case from the defense 

5 point of view. 

6 The evidence can be, as we know, direct or 

7 circumstantial. Evidence could be presented in some sort 

B of a positive showing by testimony or otherwise; that can 

9 be considered, of course, and so can lack of evidence be 

10 considered, something that's not there that the juror may 

11 think should be there. 

12 I'd break this down, in my mind at least, into two 

13 areas it has to be in terms of the negligence, itself1 

14 two major areas. First is the failure of the bungee cord 

15 strap; and the second is the substance on the road, f¢r 

16 lack of a better term I'll use the word "oil" on the 

17 road. I'm not going to suggest it was oil on the road. 

18 The evidence presented to the jury was that the strap 

19 was attached properly 1 inspected properly as had been 

20 done for many years by the person doing the inspecting 

21 and attaching. 

22 A juror -- a jury from that evidence could certainly 

23 have come to the conclusion that the strap was properly 

24 attached and properly inspected1 and ·if the strap failed, 

25. at no fault of the defendant. Mechanical devices fail, 
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and that may very we11 be what they concluded, I don't 

know. 

The oil on the road issue. There was testimony that 

it was in far greater quantity than had could have come 

from the hose. The jurors were free to believe that if 

they chose. It's not for me to weigh the evidence. 

Matters little what I think the result should be; in 

fact, it means nothing at all. It's a tria1 by jury, not 

trial by jury and then second guessed by the judge. It's 

a constitution~! right. 

There was certainly evidence from which a juror could 

conclude that the oil on the road did not come from this 

hose. 

That is different than saying that the defendant 

failed·to provide some other party put the oil there or 

some other party is responsible. To do so would be a 

shifting of burdens. It's not the defense's 

18 ._responsibility to say where the oil came from or from 

19 what source. They're certainly entitled to attack that 

20 it came from this vehicle at all or this truck at all. 

21 Consequently, I think there is substantial evidence 

22 under substantial evidence rules and under the quote I 

23 just gave you in ter.ms of the standards to be applied for 

24 the jury to conclud~ that the defendant was not 

25 negligent. 
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1 The three years to file issue, and to comment on 

2 this; the spoliation issue was addressed at some length. 

3 I spent some time researching this during the motions in 

4 limine so will be hopefully well versed in the law in 

5 this particular area. 

6 The strap, as I recall the evidence quite clearly, 

7 was destroyed, or tossed out I should say, the day of the 

8 accident or th~ day after the accident. The records were 

9 kept for the length of time provided for by the 

10 controlling regulations, and they were gone. I remember 

11 it succinctly and quite clearly the business about them 

12 being recorded on to CDs and then what happened with all 

13 that. 

14 The reason that I allowed the evidence in went this 

15 way. The evidence that they were gone -- and the 

16 evidence that the defendant had control of them and then 

17 they were gone, why that went in to evidence is because 

18 as a pragmatic matter I think the jury needed to 

19 understand why that wasn't here. It's not right to have 

20 the plaintiff to come to court and have to explain why 

21 they don 1 t have evidence when the plaintiff [sic] had 

22 control of it and it's gone. They need to be 'able to 

23 explain that. 

24 But that's not the end of the story. 

25 MR. BARCUS: You said plaintiff. Did you mean 
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defendant, Your Honor? 

THE COURT: No, the plaintiff needs to be able 

to explain why they can't present the strap, why they 

can't present the other evidence. 

MR. BARCUS: You said the plaintiff had control 

of it. 

THE COURT: Oh, I'm sorry. The defendant had 

control of it. I did mean that. Thank you, Mr. Barcus. 

And certainly that needed to be exp~ained. I 

thought, in all fairness to the jury, they need to have 

the facts. 

On the other hand, spoliation is different than 

~imply the evidence not being available. And I went 

through those standards before~ I don't intend to go 

through them again. 

But once you have put before the jury that that 

information.or that evidence is gone, then the defense 

has the ability to come in and say why it's gone, less 

there be some sort of an improper negative inference 

being drawn, at least they should be able to argue that a 

negative inference should not be drawn. 

And the fact that the plaintiff didn't request 

these -- this particular evidence for several years is 

something that I felt the jury ~hould hear in all 

fairness to the defense. And consequently, I did allow 

Mattson v APES - Motion 

40 



June 8, 2012 

1 that evidence in. I did it intentionally. I was 

2 fully -- I shouldn't say intentionally so much as after 

3 serious consideration of the problems. 

4 And that's why the spoliation, the reason I said 

5 before, the spoliation instruction was not given. It 

6 would have been quite different if two months afterwards 

7 or a month· afterwards or even a couple of days afterwards 

8 the plaintiffs had asked for preservation of evidence and 

9 it wasn~t there. But three years later it's hard to 

10 imagine how, without any request for that evidence be 

11 preserved, it doesn't seem to meet the standard, and 

12 ·that's why I didn't allow the jury instruction. 

13 Instruction 16, which was given some considerable 

14 very good briefing, by the way, on the part of the 

15 plaintiffs. I looked at it very carefully. As I had 

16 before, actually; although, my response in the courtroom 

17 may have been rather abrupt cutting off the argument, I 

18 did consider it very, very carefully. 

19 And the reason that I did allow it, the extra 

20 language in Instruction 16, was because what happened may 

21 very well be the jury could conclude that no fault at all 

22 of the defendant. Straps mechanically fail; they could 

23 certainly conclude .that. They don't need evidence of 

24 that. That's something, the common knowledge of every 

25 person, l suppose, at least one could argue that it is, 
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that straps do fail. 

And of course, this strap was not available. It put 

the plaintiff in kind of an unenviable position because 

the defendant says I did everything to inspect it and it 

broke. There was no strap there to take a look at and 

say well, did it break? How did it break? What really 

did happen? I understand. But again, the jury is 

entitled to hear it. And I let the plaintiff argue that 

very point to the jury; that there's no strap here. They 

had it, it's gone. 

All right. Plus the argument -- I think this kind of 

also goes a little bit to the oil on the road -- there 

has to be causation. And this volume of the oil, again, 

the defendant is not required to say where the oil came 

xrom or even suggest it came f~am a particular person, 

only that it didn't come from their truck. And the jury 

is free to conclude that it didn't come from their truck, 

and there is substantial evidence to support that in this 

particular case. 

I'll be very candid. I was disturbed when the jury 

came back in 30 minutes, but that's not for me to judge. 

Quite clearly, the case law is very strong; the judge is 

not to, the court is not to get into procedural aspects 

of the jury's decision. Not at all. Not ~ven to 

consider it. 

42 

Mattson v APES - Motion 



June 8, 2012 

1 How long they were back, when they took a vote and 

2 all of that inheres to the verdict of the jury, and 

3 certainly disregard that part of the declaration that was 

4 supplied. I'm not suggesting for a moment it wasn't 

5 supplied in good faith, but that is going to be 

6 disregarded. 

7 That took me down to providing sameone's personal 

8 experience or opinion about how to properly investigate 

9 an acqident because of their experience with OSHA. I 

10 think this is analogous to the McCoy case. 

11 In McCoy, as you recall, there were clay pipes, and 

12 the question was damages caused by leakage. A juror, not 

13 the jurors that we're talking about in the voir dire, 

14 they didn't disclose their knowledge in voir dire; but 

15 the other juror, I think it was Juror No. 11, or maybe it 

16 was 10 in that case, I've forgotten. It doesn't matter. 

17 But telling the rest of the jurors that he lived on a 

18 faDm and he knew that driving a tractor over clay pipes, 

19 particularly if they're wet, would crush them like an 

20 eggshell, was certainly in some respects very similar to 

21 this in that he's bringing in evidence -- I understand 

22 law versus evidence -- but .he's bringing in evidence from 

23 outside the -- that was not presented to the jury. 

24 And Judge Van Deren and Division II of the Court of 

25 Appeals said you can't consider that. You must disregard 
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that. And again, it inheres to the verdict and is not 

for the court to even consider in its decision. 

I understand that the OSHA investigation could pe 

viewed as a question of fact or a question of law as 

being inadequate in a juror's mind. And where I think 

the line is supposed to be is if you have a juror that 

comes into court who brings in experiences that are, I 

guess, considerably outside the common experience, 

considerably outside some sort of general understanding 

of what folks know and don't know, presents it to the 

jurors, I would say like someone who has a particular 

expertise, presents it to the jurors, and has misled the 

court during voir dire, that might give grounds for this. 

I looked kind o£ carefully at the Spokane case. 

Remember the case, the name escapes me for a moment, 

where a juror, or actually three jurors were constantly 

referring to the plaintiff's lawyer as Mr. Hiroshima; and 

he wasn't,· of course. And then there was a comment made 

on the zero verdict, on the defense verdict that it was 

on Pearl Harbor Day, and the words escape me, but 

something to the effect that he got his just deserve. 

That is so clearly misconduct, so clearly repugnant 

to the administration of justice and the concepts o~ 

decisions not based upon prejudice. But that case was. 

reversed. 
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This case doesn't come to that level. I think it is 

analogous to McCoy. And I have to disregard the juror's 

declaration, and I will so do, disregard it. Motion is 

denied. 

Have I covered all the issues? 

MR. BARCUS: No. 

THE COURT: Is there one. I missed? 

MR. BARCUS: You didn't cover misconduct, Your 

Honor. 

THE COURT: Oh, misconduct. Thank you. I do 

have same thoughts on that. 

There was, I think the record will reflect, some 

colorful conduct on behalf of Mr. O'Brien. And there was 

same I don't know if colorful is the right'word, but 

certainly aggressive and very well emotional, if you 

will, I saw on the part of the plaintiff's counsel as 

well. It was something I was trying to get slowed down a 

bit in the courtroom. 

This is a very emotional case. I completely 

understand how it can get that way. I've been in trial 

many times, and I know that even from a judge's point of 

view already that it can get emotional quick. I tried to 

calm it down. I don't think the prejudice was such a 

level to warrant a new -- or the misconduct as to warrant 

a new trial. 

45 

Mattson v APES - Motion 



June 8, 2012 

1 I did ask Mr. O'Brien -- it only happened once that I 

2 recall -- not to wander around the back of the court and 

3 say words like "outrageous. 11 I'm not sure the jury heard 

4 that, I'm not sure that they didn't. I would say that 

5 I'm just about as far away as the jury is to Mr. O'Brien 

6 was and I did hear it, but I'm not sure which way the 

7 voice was going and so forth. But I asked him not to. 

a And it was somewhat under his breath, I do recall. 

9 Speaking.objections. Frankly, both parties were 

10 doing it until I actually asked you both to stop. I 

11 think if you review the record you'll find that's true. 

12 I asked you again once in.trial, directed both o~ you not 

13 to do it again. 

14 It still kept happening. But I understand, it does 

15 qet carried away, and it's hard to keep a lid on it. .. And 

16 I'm not finding that to be certainly not sanctionable 

17 misconduct on either party's part1 and T rlon't think it's 

18 a reason to reverse the decision of the jury in this 

19 case. 

20 MS. LESTER: And Your Honor, the comments in 

21 Mr. Barcus's rebuttal. 

22 THE COURT: The rebuttal comments about the 

23 timing of when to file? 

24 MS. LESTER: No. About being hungry. 

25. THE COURT: Well, I guess it's worth a 
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discussion. 

Now, I don't remember actually the details of how he 

got the time frames of when the -- I'd have to look back 

at the record, but I know we did amend the original 

pretrial order. We brought it down. I believe --

MS. LESTER: That morning. 

THE COURT: I think it was because .we were 

looking at noon for the jury. And I didn't want to 

interrupt Mr. Barcus's rebuttal argument. I wanted to 

get you a chance the get it in. And I think what we I 

don't remember the actual conversation on this. But I 

was trying to get it all done before lunch if we could, 

rather than having it broken up; do part of your argument 

before lunch, part of your argument after lunch. And 

that was one of the considerations. 

Plus as I recall, with all due respect, the initial 

argument was pretty darn thorough, and then the rebuttal 

argument to some extent was touching on many of the same 

issues again. And I do mean that in the deepest respect, 

but it was, in my review of it. 

And I did put a time frame on it, and we were way 

beyond it. We were well into about 12:20-ish or so. And 

I think I'd asked two or three times, suggested to 

Mr. Barcus that you_really do need to wrap it up. And to 

some extent Mr. O'Brien's response to that may have been 
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a little theatrical. Mr. O'Brien does have that, to be a 

bit theatrical. 

MR. O'BRIEN: Really, I think the record they 

quoted was wrong. I said, Your Honor, something like, 

you know -- he was just ignoring warnings, and I just 

thought this should be it. 

And then he turned on me, and that's when I just sort 

of reacted and said I'm hungry or, you know, something 

~ike that, because it was backwards in the transcript. 

That's what happened. 

THE COURT: And my recollection of the events 

were that something similar as Mr. Barcus did have your 

back to me, and you were actually kind of in somewhat of 

an intimidating position, frankly. You're a very large 

man. And that's the way I saw it from up here. 

And when he said "I'm hungry," I wasn't again sure 

the jury heard it because it was kind of softly said. 

But nevertheless, it certainly wasn't something to be 

bold and underlined; that's not the case in my 

recollection. It may have .affected you like that. You 

were sitting next to him and you may have heard it 

differently than I did, but that's what I heard. 

Was it appropriate? Probably not. But not a basis 

to warrant a new trial in this case. 

MR. BARCUS: Your Honor, let the record reflect 
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that the court reporter got it right. 

THE COURT: Okay. 

MR. BARCUS: And for counsel to say the court 

reporter got it wrong shows its disdain not only for this 

court and orders of this court, but also the court staff. 

THE COURT: Thank you. 

MR. BARCUS: And it's just -- it's just 

outrageous, to use his words, to try to suggest that it 

did not occur as it did. It's the most unprofessional 

comment I've ever seen in 26 years. 

THE COURT: All right. I need an order before 

we leave today, please. 

MS. LESTER: Mr. O'Brien prepared one. But I 

did have issues with it, because I had also made a motion 

to strike portions ~f his declaration. 

THE COURT: Motion to strike is denied. 

I told you I did not give a great deal of weight to 

portions of that for the reasons you stated. 

MS. LESTER: Thank you, Your Honor, for your 

time. 

MR. O'BRIEN: Thank you. 

THE COURT! Thank you. Thank you for your hard 

work everybody, very much. 

[Whereupon, the verbattm report of 
proceedings adjourned.] 
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UNPUBLISHED OPINION 

BJOR.GEN, A~CJ4 - Ra.yna Mattson .sued American Petroleum Environmental Services 

·(APES) and Bernd ·Sta~. an APES employee, c)ajming ~they negligently caused her car 

accident by spilling oil on an interstate freewey. Ulmnately, a jury found :Q.O negligence by 

Stadfherr or APES. Mattson appeals, arguing (1) that~e trial court erred in ~ her motions 

for judgment as a matter of law or a new trial on liabili1;y because 1Q.ere -was ·'1mdisputed" 

evidence as to .APES~s ~gence, and (2) that other irregularities require a new 1rial, including 

(a) the 'trial co~s .refusal to apply res judicata or various forms of estoppel to prevent APES 

from litigating causation during th8 tris1 on APES's and Stadtherr's liability, (b) multiple 

instructional errors, (c) misconduct by AP~'s COUDSel, (d) juror misconduct, aDd (e) cumulative 

ertor. We disagree and affirm. 

FACTS 

APES collects and reprocesses waste oil for reuse. Its operators, like Stadtherr, drive 

tanker trucks to ,sites ~ ~d oil is located, collect the oil, and then rerum it to APES's 
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facility for -recycling. 

In July 2003, APES assigned Stadtherr to retum a shipment o~waste oil from Canada 

Before setting out, Stadtherr followed his normal pr&-1rip routine and performed a federally 

mandated pre-trip inspection to ensure that, everything on "the truck~ in proper working 

oondition. As part ofhis .inspection, S1adtherrverified 1hat properly functioning bunge.c cords 

secured the vacuum hoses used to collect the oil in their housings. 

After finishing his inspection, Stadtherr left APES's Dcllicy' near the Port of Tacoma 8Dd 

proceeded north on InterstateS (I-5). Before Stadtherr reached Federal Way~ he noticed that one 

of the vacuum hoses had come loose and was dragging behind the truck. The hose bad not 

dragged for vecy long; truck drivers must cheek their rear view mirrors every 15 to 20 seconds 

and Stad'lherr bad not seen the hose in his last check: in the mfrror. Stadtherr pulled over to the 

side of the road and discovered that con1:act with 1he road and the tri,Jckss tires had split the hose 

open. 
·. 

Mattson was also drivi.Dg northbound on 1-.5 just after Stadthetr. A slick substance on the 

:freeway caused Mattson~s tires to lose their grip, and she lost con1rol of.her car. She spun 

around several funes, careened off the interstate, ana rolled down the embankment at the side of 

the road, flipping several times befoJ:e stopping. 

A Washlngton State.Pa1rol troopel' responded to the scene ofMattson~s accident and 

noticed a significant amolm.t of liquid on the roadway. The trooper summoned the Department 

of Transportation to clean up the·slick, which was made of a "slippery kind of substance" m;td 

.extended "[m]ore than a football field" on-I-5. Clerk's P~ers (CP) at 157~ 1578. The trooper 

also summoned another state patrol unit to contact Stadfb.erl, who bad stopped his truck on the 
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side of t1:ie road a short distance away, on the assumption that Stadthcrr' s truck bad a coDileCti.on 

to the accident. The 1roopers later cited Stad:therr for causing the accident. 

Mattson sued APES and Stadtb.err and his marital community, alleging that they had 

negligently allowed oil to spill onto the freeway, c,au.sing the .accident and her resulting injuries. 

The parties eXChanged cross motions for summary judgment before trial. Mattson first 

' 
sought judgment that APES and Stadtb.err had negligently caused her accident Mattson's 

second motion.sought judgment that her accident had proximate),y caused her injuries and that 

her claims of damages from those injuries were reasonable. APES ·sought summmy judgment on 

tbe ground that it had not breached its duty of care. For ~ses of deciding these various . 

motions, APES asked the court to consider as true Mattson's argument that APES had spilled the 

·Oil that caused her accident. 

The trial court granted Mattson's motions for summary judgment. The court found APES 

and Stadtherr jointly and severally liable for the automobile. accident based on common law 

negligence and for all Mattson's ~juries proximately caused by the accident. The 1rial court also . . 

found that the colliSion caused Mattson's injuries, that she bore no comparative fiwlt for the 

accident, and that her damages c1lrlms were reasonable. The trial cow.:t ordered a tiia1 "solely on 

the issue of the nature and extent of the damages proximately caused to the Plaintiff as a result of 

the Defendants' negligence" and instructed the j'Uty that, regardless of their verdict on other 

damages, the court had determined she had suffered $109,645.40 in medical costs, lost wages, 

and other expenses. CP at 570, 574. After the. trial on damages, the jury returned a verdict for 

Mattson in excess of $500,000.00. 

3 
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APES appealed. It assigned error to the trial court's order "granting R.e8pcmdent Rayna 

Mattson~s motion for partial summary judgment on liability." CP at 671. APES contended that 

"material issues of fact remain regarding APES's negligence and the proximate cause of this 

accident" and that the 1ria1 court erred by determ;n;ng that APES was negligent under traditional 

or res ipsa loquitor theories of negligence. CP at 671. 

On appeal, we agreed with APES and reversed summary judgment on liability, "because 

. ~ . genuine issues of material fact remained as to whether [APES and Stadtb.err] breached a duty 

of care and, if so, whether that breach proximately caused the accident" CP at 589. 

Consequently~ we remanded for trial on the issue of APES's and Stadtherr' s liability. 

On remand, the parties 1ried the issue ofliabiley' before a jury.1 The jury found tbat · 

APES md Stadthm had not acted negligently .and therefore returned no verdict with regard to 

·causation.. Mattson sought post-verdict relief, including judgment as a matter of law under CR 

50 and the grant of a new 1rial under CR 59, but the mal comt denied these motions. Mattson 

now appeals. 

ANALYSIS 

I. MOTION FOR JUOOMHNT AS A MATIER OF LAW AND ALTERNATIVE 'MOTION FOR NEW 'I'RIAL 

At the Close of evidence and after the verdict, Mattson moved for judgment as a matter of 

law and, altematively, for a new 1rlal, based ~the "unrebutted and undisputed evidence [of 

APES's and Stadtherr,s negligence] ... presented at [the] time of trial." Br. of Appellant at 48; 

1 Due to 1he number and variety of issues raised in this appeal, we set the relevant facts out 
below while analyzing Mattson's claims of error. 
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CP at 2595-2606, 2716~2. The trial comt denied these motions.1 Despite Mattson's 

characterization. the record contains conflicting evidence that created material issues of fact.. 

Consequc:ntly, the 1tia1 court did not err when it sent the negligence question to the jury and 

denied Mattson's post-verdict motions for relief. 

A Standard of Review ana Principles ofNegligence 

We review de novo a trial court's denial of a motion for judgment as a matter of law 

tmdcr CR. so. Davis v. Microsoft Corp., 149 Wn.2d 521, 530-31, 70 P.3d 126 (2003). Judgment 

as a matter of law is appropriate ~ after "'viewing the evidence most favorable to the 

nonmoving party, the court can say, as a m.att.er of law, there is no substantial eviclencc or 

reasonable inference to sustain a verdict for the nonmovmg party., Davis, 149 Wn.2d at 531 

(quotingSingv. JohnL. Scott. Inc., 134 Wn.2d24, 29,948 P.2d 816 (1997)). Mattson must 

· accept as true all evidence APES offered and any inferences reasonably drawn from that 

evidence for purposes of searching for this substantial supporting evidence. Goodman v. 

Goodman, 128 Wn.2d 366, 371, 907 }>.2d 290 (1995). Substantial evidence in Support of the 

jucy's verdict iS "evidence 'sufficient . ~ . to persuade a fair-minded, rational person"' that AP~ 

and Stadtherr did not breach "their duty of care. Davis, 149 Wn.2d at 531 (quoting Helman v. 

Sacred Heart Hosp., 62. Wn2d 136, 147, 381 P .2d 605 .(1963}) (alteration in original). 

2 On appeal. Mattson aSsigns mor to the denial of her motion for judgment as a matter of law, 
but does not specifically assign error to the denial of her motion for a new trial. Nevertheless, 
her briefing adequafely presents each of these related challenges and the record is sufficient to 
review each. Accordingly, we review both challenges consistently with State v. Guwer, 172 Wn. 
App. 31, 45, 288 P.3d 665 (2012), overruled on other grounds, 179 Wn.2d 851~ 321 P.3d 1178 ... 
(2014) (this court may consider issues raised without formal assignments of error if sufficiently 
briefed and the record allows review). ·· · · 
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We :review a trial court's decision to deny amotion !or a :Dew trial under CR59(a) for an 

abuse of discretion. Bnmdridge v. Fluor Fed Servs., Inc., 164 Wn.2d 432, 454, 191 P .3d 879 

(2008). A trial court abuses its discretion if it denies a motion for a new trial where the record 

does not contain substantia.levidence.to support the verdict. Palmer v. Jensen, 132 Wn.2d 193, 

197-98,937 P.2d 597 (1997). Weagainconsiderthefilc!s ~inferences in the light most 

favorable to 1he nonnioving party when reviewing the record for substantial evidence to support 

a trial court's decision on a CR 59 motion for a new 1rial. Hizey v. Carpenter, 119 Wn.2d 251, 

271-72, 830P.2d.646 (1992). 

A person acts negligently by failing "to ex~ such care as a reasonable pt;rSOD. would 

exercise under1he same or s1milll1' circumstances." Mathfs v . .Ammon, 84 Wn. App. 411, 416, 

928 P ;2d 431 (1997). To proye negligence, a plaintiff must show the existence· of a legal duty to 

exercise ordinary care, breach of that duty, and that 1he breach proximately caused damages to 

the plaint:ift: Mathis, 84 Wn. App. at 415-16. A dut;y of care may exist by virtue of the common 

law or a statute. Mathis, 84 Wn. .1\.pp. at 416-17. · 

Altematively, in "'peculiar 8Dd exceptional cases'·~ a-plaintiff may prove negligence by 

res ipsa loquitor, wmch allows the jury to infer _negligence without the plaintiff proving specific 

acts of negligence. Curtis v. Letn, 169 Wn.2d 884,889,239 P.3d 1078 (2010) (Cfll01ing Ttnderv. 

Nordstro"" Inc.,.84 Wn. .1\.pp. 787, 792, 929 P.~ 1209 (1997). To invoke the doctrine of res 

ipsa loquitor, the plaintiff must show "he or she suffered injury, tho cause of which C81ll1ot be 

fully aplained, and the~ is of a type that would not ontinaD.ly _result if the defendant were. 

not negligent" Pacheco v. Ames, 149 Wn.2d 431, 436, 69 P.3d 324 (2003). To satisfy these 

requirements,. the plaintiff must show that 
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(1) the accident or occum:nce ·that caused· the p]aintiff's injury would not 
ordinarily happen·in the absence of negligence, (2) the instrum~ or agency 
that caused the plaintiff's inJury was in the exclusive control of the defendant, and 
(3) the plaintiff did nQt contribute to the accident or occummoc. 

Lein, 169 Wn.2d at 891. 

B. Evidence ofNegligen,ce 

We begin by ac~au?wledging that Mattson presented significant evidence of negiigent 

·conduct by APES and Stadtbeu. Mattson's expert, Christopher Ferrone, testified that APES and 

Stadthe.rr ~ statutoiy duties requiring them to prevent their cargo arload from ·"leaking, 

spilling. blowing or fallln8 from" the tanker .truck. yerbatim Report ofProceMin~ (VRP)(Mar. 

28, 2012) at 505. Ferrone further stated that the ·measures APES and Stadtberr.took to secure the 

hose on their truck failed to satisfy their common law duty to exercise ordinary care.· Ferrone 

opined that "ultimately .•. the oil [causing the accident] is related to 1his :truck as a result of the 

hose becoming detached or partially detaChed .•• and being nm over by its own wheels, and as a 

consequei:we;puttingthat oil onto the pavement" VRP (Mar. 28, 2012) at"511. Ferrone stated 

also that he saw D.o evidence that suggested that anythlng other than APES's leaking hose had 

caused the collision. 

In addition, APES's own personnel and i~ expert testified in a manner tbat would have. 

allowed the jury to find a breach. of the duty to ·exercise ordinary care. Both Michael Mazza, 

APES's ·owner, and Stadtherr testified that the rough nature ofl-5 at the time caused the tanker 

trucks to bounce viol~y. Stadtherr testified that this violent boUDCing could cause objects 

secured to the truck to come loose. APES's own expert testified that it was foreseeable that a 

bungee· cord could break while driving a tanker 1ruck on I-S's rough surface. Stadtherr also 

testified that he saw o~ on the tanker truck while inspecting the split hose. Further, Mattson 
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impeached both Stadthcrr and Maz2a with deposition testiiD.OllY indicating that they had accepted 

responsibility for Mattson's accident. 

However, APES and Stadthett also introduced evidence that they had complied with their 

common law standard of care. Mazza testified that APES 1'equired its drivers to inspect the 

bungee cords to ensure their proper :futiction, and Stadtherr testified that he bad done so on the 

day of the incident Mazza and Stadtherr both testified that other companies in the oil transport 

industiy commonly used bungee co~ for similar purposes. Stadtherr testified that when bungee 

cords looked wom during his inspection, 'he would replace them before ~broke, alloWing the 

jury to infer he would have done so if the cord at' issue had appeared frayed or unsuitable .. Both 

Stadtberr and Mazza testified that they bad never seen a bungee cord break While in motion. 

Both testified that other than the day in question tb.ey had. only ·seen bungee cords break while 

~ stretc.hed to strap down the hoses. 

Further, APES and Stadthelr introduced evidence indicating that they bad not created the 

oil slic.k on 'the freeway. Although Mattson botly disputed the testimmzy, Mazza denied tbat 1b.e 

1m;lker truck carried oil; ~ he contended it carried only residual Wastewater and could not 

bave spilled oil. ~went to w"here troopers bad stopped Stadtherr the day of the accident and 

testified that he saw no oil behind the truck. A wi1ness testified that the slick smelled of diesel, 

and APES introduced evidence that such material could not have come from its truck. Finally, 

observers described a slick extalding over 200 feet in length. APES introduced evidence that it 

could not have dropped the volume of :material comprising the slick with its broken hose, which 

was vacuum sealed at both ends and contained only a minimum of residual material. 
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APES also introduced evidence that it had complied with its statutory duties of care. 

Lewis testified that any residual oil spilled by the tearing of the vacuum hose would not fall 

within the ambit of the regulations Mattson cited as a basis for duties of care. Lewis also 

testified that Stadtherr's pre-trip inspection, which confirmed that the bungee cords appeared in 

satisfiwtory oondition, meant that APES bad not violated any federal regulations. Finally, Lewis 

opined that Stadtherr' s pre-1rip inspection and his and Mazza's actions after the hose came loose 

also meant that Stadtherr and APES complied with applicable state law. 

With regard to Mattson's cOmmon law negligence .and res ipsa loquitor claims, ~ES and 

S1adtherr introduced substantial evidence that they bad ex~ ordinary care. 3 While 

Mattson"s brief admirab~y sum.marlzes the evidence supporting a conclusion that Stadthcrr and 

APES acted ~na.bly, our role is not 1o reweigh the evidence. Instead we look to the 

evidence presented by APES, ·which Mattson must accept as true for her challenges. Stadthmr 

testified that he performed the required pre-trip inspection and, in so doing, made sure the 

bungee cords were in satisfilctory condition. Stadtberr testified that whexi bungee cords looked 
.. 
'· wom during 1iis inspection, he would replace them before they broke. Both Stadthcrr and Mazza 

testified 1bat they 'had ·only seen.a bungee cord bieak: while being stretclted to strap down the 

·hoses, and never seen a cord break while the truck was moving. Both alsQ testified that the use· 

of bungee cords was common in their industry. Although the court did not ·instruct the jury tbat 
' 

industry practice could show ordinary care, 1he jury could have inferred that Stadtherr and APES 

~reasonably from this testimony. 

3 Res ipsa loquitor allows the inference of negligence, meaning the failUre to exercise ordinary 
care. To the extent that APES's evidence shows it exercised ordinary care, it allowed the jmy to 
decline to infer negligence. 
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All this evidence allowed the jury to find APES and Stadtherr had acted reasonably 

despite the breaking of the bungee cord. See Brotherton v. Day & Night Fuel Co., 192 Wash. 

362, 375-78, 73 P.2d 788 (1937) (no negligence when accident caused by mechanical failure); 

.Adams v. W. Host, Inc., 55 Wn. App. 601, 606, 779 P .2d181 (1989) ("[m]aterials can wear out 

or break without negligence being 4lvolved"). This evidence, along with the evidence indicating 

that APES had not dropped the oil that caused Mattson"'s crash, would also defeat Mattson's 

.claim that she is entitled to jud:gment as a matter of law under res ipsa loquitur. 

Wrth regard to Mattsony s ~laim that APES and Stadtherr acted negligently by violating 

federal regulations, APES in1roduced substantial evidence that it complied with its st8tutocy 

duties. Lewis testified any oil spilling from the tom hose would not violate any of the statutes 

Mattson cited. Further, Lewis testified that APES and Stadtherr bad satisfied all their statutory 

. duties with the pre--trip inspection and their post-accident conduct. While Mattson's expert 

testified differently, we defer to the jmY~ s resolution of competing testimony. State v. 

Camarillo, 115 Wn.2d 60, 71, 794 P .2d 850 (1990) .. The testimony eli,cit.ed by APES allowed 

the jury to return~ verdict tbat APES and Stad1herr had not committed negligence through the 

breacb of a statute. 

F~y, APES and Stadtherr introduced evidence indicating that they had not cx-eatcd the 

oil slick on the freeway because of the volume and nature of the substance on the freeway. F'ttSt, 

observers described a slick extending over 200 feet in length and APES introduced evidence that 

it could not have dropped that much material because the broken hose contained only a minimum 

of residual ma.terial. Further, although Mattson hotly disputed the testimony, Mazza denied that 

the tanker truck carried oil; instead, he contended it carried only residwil wastewater ·and could 
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not have spilled oil. Finally, Mazza went to wh«e troopers bad stopped Stadtherr the day of the 

accident and testified that be saw no oil behind the truck. This evidence precluded judgment as a 

matter of law on ~y of Mattson's theories of negligence: if the oil was not APES's, APES was 

not negligent. 

Substantial evidence supports the jmy' s verdict Therefore, the comt did not .err in 

denying Mattson's motions under CR. 50 and CR 59. 

II. EQUITABLE DocTRlNBs 

Matt3on next contends that the trial court ened in refusing to preclude or estop APES 

from arguing that the substance. it spilled onto .the highway did not proximately .cause ~ 

accident. we disagree. 

During the Slillllll8IY judgment proceedjngs before the first trial~ APES asked the coUrt to 

assume, for purposes of the motions before it, that APES had dropped the oil that had caused 

Mattson's accident on :the freeway. After the 1ria1 court granted sUmmary judgment on liability 

to Mattson, APES appealed. It assigned error to the trial court's resolving breach and causation 

as a matter oflaw. ·In an unpublished opinion we reVersed the order of summary judgment on 

1hese bases. 

Before the second trial, Mattson brougbt a motion in limine to exclude argument about 

whether oil S,Pilled by APES caused. Mattson's accident. 4 The trial court denied Mattson's 

4 Mattson's briefing claims that the trial court denied her "the opportunity to have her motion 
heard" because the trial court told her initially to bring the motion as one in limine and then later 
told her she needed to bring it as a motion for SllJllm8!Y judgment. Br. of Appellant at 57. This 
mischm:acterizes the record. The 1:ii.al court denied Mattson the chance to raise the issue as a 
summary judgment !notion because she failed to make the motion in a timely manner, but 
nevertheless devoted significant time to hearing her motion in limine and denied the motion on 
the merits. 
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motion, adopting APES's argumeut, which it paraphrased when first discussing the issue: 

In the prior summary judgment motion the issue came up, and the · 
pla;nnffs said for the pUipOses of- excuse me- defendant said for the pmposes 
of this summary judgment motion only we're going to stipulate that there was oil 
on the road from 1he truck. 

But of course, we're not in that summary judgment now is their 
contention; and 1hcrefore, the burden ofproofis on the pJajntjffs to provethat.tbe 
oil- if there was oil on the road, that this oil is the causa:ti.on for the .ultimate 
damages done to the plaintifL 

VRP (Mar. 21., 2012) at 7, 17-19.; VRP (Mar. 22, 2012)at 129-30. As noted, APES m.tro~ 

evidence at trial indicating tbat it had not dropped the oil that caused Mattson's accident. 

We review de novo the applicability of collatcral estoppel or res judicata. Chri8tensert -v. 

Grant Coimty Hosp. Dist. No.1, 152 Wn.2d299~·305, 96 P.3d 957 (2004); A.tl Cos. ina. Co. v. 

Or. Mut. .Jns. Co., 137 Wn. App. 296, 302, 153 P.3d 211 (2007). We review a trial court's 

refusa11o apply the doctrines of equitable or judicial estoppel for an abuse of discretion. Aftnson 

v. FedEx Ground Package Sys., Jnc.~ 174 Wi2d 851, 860, 281 P .~d 289 (2012); Ford v. · 

Bellingham-Whatcom CountyDist .. Bd. of Health, 16 Wn. App. 709., 715,558 P.2d 821 (1977). 

A. Res Judicata 

The doctrine of res judicata governs "the varioUs ways in which a judgment in one action 

will have a binding effect in another . ., Hilltop Terrace Homeowner's Ass 'n v. Island County, 

126 Wn.2d 22, 30, 891 P .2d 29 (1995) (citation omit:ted). Res judicata bars relitigation of claims 

already decided, meaning litigated to a judgment on the merits. HUltop Tetrace, 126 Wn.2d at 

3l;DeYoungv. Cenex:Ltd., lOOWn.App. 885,891-92,1 P.3d587 (2000). Wedetemdne 

whether a court has.already decided a claim by examining whether the current and past acti~ 

share. an "'identity of(l) subject matter; (2) cause of action; (3) persons and parties; and (4) the 

quality of the persons for or against whom the claim is made.'" Schraedt!r v. Excelsior Mgmt. 
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Grp., LLC, 177 Wn.2d94, 108,297 P3d 677 (2013) (quotingMellorv. Chamberlin, 100 Wn..2d 

'643, 645-46,673 P.2d 610 (1983)). 

Res judicata applies to entire claims or affirmative defenses rather than to determinations 

about issues. Luisi Truck Lines, Inc. v. Wash. Utils. & Transp. Comm 'n, 72 Wn.2d 887, 894,435 

P .2d 654 (1967) ("[t]he doctrine of res judicafll is intended to prevent relitigation of an entire 

cause· of action and collateral estoppel is intended to ~ retrial of one or more of the crucial 

issues or determinative facts determined in previous litigation."'). Mattson's claim concerns 

causation, an element of a C8ll8e of action for negligence. We therefore analyze Mattson"'s 

argument under the doctrine of collateral estoppel rather than res judicata. 5 

.. 
Collateral estoppel bars reliti.gati.on of issues finally determined in one action in ~ 

proceedings. Christensen, 152 Wn.2d at 306. To successfully assert .collateral estoppel to bar an 

opponent from relitigating an issue, a party must show 

(1) the isSue decided in the earlier.pr~ngwas identical to the issue presented: 
in 1he later ~g, (2) the earlier proceeding ~ in ·a judgment on the 
merits, (3) the party a,gainst whom collateral estoppei is asserted was a parcy to, or 
in prlvey with a party to, the earlier proceeding, and ( 4) application of collateral 
estoppel_ does not woik an injustice on the party apinst whom it is applied. · 

Christensen, 152 Wn.2d at 307. 

However, a judgment loses its preclusive effect if it ~-vacated or reversed.~ 14A KARt 

B. 'I'BoLAND, WASHJNGTONPR.ACI'ICB: Civn.. PROCBDUIUt § 35:23, at 519, § 35:34, at 557 (2d ed. 

2009). We reversed the summary judgment ori. which Mattson bases" her claims of preclusion in 

5 Even if we did consider Mattson's res judicata claim. we would have 1o reject it for the. same 
reason we reject her collateral estoppel claim. As discussed below, our vacation of the summary 
jll9gment order nulli:fied any preclusiye- effect it had and res judicata did not apply. 
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an unpublished decision and remanded for trial on the issue of liability. Liability encompasses 

breach of a dUty, but-for causation, and legal causation. See Mohr v. Grtintham, 172 Wn.2d 844, 

850, 262 P .3d 490 (2011) (citing Harbeson v. Parke-Davis, Inc., 98 Wn.2d 460,475-76, 656 

P .2d 483 (1983)). Therefore, collateml estoppel does not bar APES from contesting the 

causation issue. 

C; Judicial Esto,pj>el 

Judicial estoppel prevents "'a party :from asserting one position ·in a .court proceeding and 

later sc:eJdng an .advantage by taking a clearly inconsistent position..,, 4ftnson, 114 Wn.2d at 861 

(quoting Arldson v. Ethan Allen, Inc., 160 Wn.2d 535, 538, 160 P .3d 13 (2007)). ~efore 

applying the doctrine tO estop a party from as~ a position at trial, a 1rlal court must consider 

(1) whether the pany's later position is "clearly inconsistent with its earlier 
position,n (2) whether acceptance of the later inconsistent posi1ion "would create 
the perception that either the lirst or the second court was "misled,~ and (3) 
whether the assertion of the inconsistent position would create an unfair 
advantage for the asserting party or an unfair detriment to the opposing party. 

:tfftnson, 174 Wn.2d at 861 (quotingArkison, 160 Wn.2d at 538-39). 

Mattson also fails to satisfy any of the elements of a judicial estoppel claim. As the trial 

court recognized; APES ·specifically limited 1hc concession at issue. It asked the comtto assume 

the oil causing the spill came from its hose only for purposes of deciding the two motions for 

summary judgment Arguing causation on rciiland is not inconsistent with that limited 

concession. Additionslly, we C8Jlii.Ot say that any of the .courts involved, the first trial court, om 

court, or the 1rial court on remand, were misled. No reasonable person reading the concession 

would believe it went beyond its limited scop~ especially since APES denied causation in its 

answer. Finally, Mattson should have understood that APES would contest causation on remand, 
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given its statements and the instructions in our mandate. APES obtained no unfair advautage, 

and the trial court did not abuse its discretion in declining to estop APES from arguing causation. 

D. Equitable Estoppel 

Mattson also invokes the .doctrine of equitable estoppel This doctrine ·applies Where (1) 

a party makes ''an admission, ·statement, or act inconsistent with a claim later assem,d," (2) 

another party reasonably relies on that admission, statement, or act, and (3) "injury to the relying 

_party" results "if the coUrt permits the first party to contradict or repudiate tbe admission, 

statement or act" Schroeder., 177 Wn.2d at 108-09. 

Mattson fails to satisfy any of the elements of equitable estoppel After denying it had 

caused Mauson•s accident in its complaint, APES asked the trial court to accept as 1rue 

Mattson's claim that the ruptured hose spilled the oil that caused her accident for purposes of the 

n;wtions for summary judgment. As the trial court recognized, APES's concession, by its 

.explicit terms, did not exist outside of :the 1rial court's cons:i·deration of1he summary judgmPJrt 

motions. APES, therefore, ~d not take an inconsistent pt>sition when it contested causation on 

remand. Further, Mattson could not have reasonably relied on APES's represexrtation given that 

the terms of that representation warned her that APES could contest causation in other contexts. 

Finally, APES is no~ repudiating its earlienepresentation. Again, APES asked the 1ri.a1 caurt to 

accept Mattson's claim as 1rue for a limited set of circumstances n0 longer applicable at the end 

of the summary judgment proceedings. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in declining to 

equitably estop APES from arguing causation. 

15 
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nL JURY INsTRUCTIONS 

Mattson next contends that the 1ria1 court ened in its instructions to the jury. She raises 

six arguments in this regard: (1) the court's jury instru.otion 16 misstated the law concerning 

negligence through violation of a statute, (2) jmy instruction 16 conflicted with :the instruction on 

res ipsa loquitur, (3) 1he trial court erred in declining to instruct the jury on APES,s nondelegable 

duties under federal law, (4) the comt erred in refusing to ins1ruct the jury that it should consider 

only 1he fault of APES 8114 Stadtberr when deliberating, (5) 1he.trial court erred in failing to give 

a spoliation instniction, and ( 6) the trial court erred in refusing to instruct the jury that it bad 

determined APES had committed negligence as ~ matter of law under the doctr.ine of res ipsa 

loquitur. We find no error. 

We apply two diffment standards of review to challenges to jury instructions. We review 

a trial court~s decision on the specific wording of jm:y inscructions or a trial comt's refusal to 

give· an instruction for an abuse of discretion. Hue v. Farmboy Spray Co., 127 Wn.2d 67., 92 

n.23, 896 P .2d 682 (1995); Goodman v. Boeing Co.~ 75 Wn. App. 60, 68, 877 P .2d 703 (1994). 

We revieW inst:ructions de novo for errors of law. Ajinsorl, 174 Wn.2d at 860. Instructions are 

insuffi~t, and therefore legally erroneous, if they prevent the parties from .arguing their 

theories of the case. mislead the jury, or, when taken as a whole, fail to properly inform ihe jury 

of the applicable law. Aftnson, 174 Wn.2d at 860. 

A. Jury Instruction 16: Violation of Statute 

Mattson mamtains that the trial court erred in giving its instruction 16lnstead of her 

proposed iDsb:ucti.on: 22 regarding the violation of a statute or regulation. Mattson alleges that 
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the instruction given contained a "poison pill" that the evidence at trial did not support, rendering 

it legally erroneous. Br. of Appellant at 67. We disagree. 

Pl8intiff's pro~sed instruction 22 provided that "[t]he violation, if any, of a statute, 

ordinance, adm.inimative code, or Federal Reguhdion is not nccCssarny negligence, but may be 

considered by you as evidence in determining negligence." CP at 1204. This ins1ruc1ion 

consisted of the standard. language from the civil pattemjury instructions. See 6 WASHINGTON 

PRAcrrCB: WASHINGTON PATTBRN JURY 1NsTRucrroNS: Civn.. 60.03, at499 (6th ed. 2012). 

Based on APES's proposed juiy instructions, the trial court instead gave instruction 16, 

which contained all of the language in plaintifr s proposed instruction 22, but included the 

optional language from the pattmn instruction. The instruction read: 

The violation, if any, of a statute or regulation is not necessarily 
negligence, but may be considered by you as evidence in determining negligence. 

Such a violation may be excused if it is due to some cause beyond the 
violator"s CODtrol, and that ordinary care could not have guarded against. 

'CP atf-645; see 6 WASHINGTON.PRACI1CB,supra, § 60.03~ at499-

~th Mattson's proposed instruction .and -the :ins1ruction given by the1rial court 

. concerned the foxmer doctrine of negligence per sc. Prior to 1986, a plaintiff could show 

negligence by demonsimt:ing a statutory violation, since the common law considered statutory 

breaches conclusive evidence of negligence. See Mathis, 84 Wn. APJl. at 416-17. In 1986 the 

legislature, with exceptions not relevant here, abolished _the do,ctrine of negligence per se and 

. provided that a statutory breach served as evidence of negligence, rather than conclusive proof of 

it. LAWS OP 1986, ch. 305, § 910, codified as RCW 5.40.050. 

We descnbed the "practical effect ofRCW 5.40.050" as 

17 
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eJiminat[ing] what might be called the 'strict liability' character of statutory 
violations under the old negligence per se doctrine, but ••. allow[ing] a jury to 
weigh the violation, along with other relevant factors, ill reaching its ultimate 
deterinination of liability. 

Doss v. m' Rayonier, Inc.~ 60 Wn. App. 125, 129-30, 803 P.2d.4 (1991). While weighing these 

factors, "the trier of fact may find a statutory violation is not negligence where 1he violation is 

due to some cause beyond the violator's control, a.nd ordinary care could not have guarded 

againstth.cviolation." Hansenv.Friend, 118 Wn.2d476,483, 824P.2d483 (1992). Stated 

otherwise, the jury must detcmrlne whether the defendant, despite the statutory violation, 

exercised ordinary care. Mathis, 84 Wn. App. at 419. The optional language .in the pattem 

lnstruction reflects this question. S,ee 6 W ASHJNGTON .PRACTICE, supra, § ·60.03, a.t 499. · 

Mattson argues that the trial comt erred because APES could not meet the requirement 

that the "violation be due to 'some cause beyond the violator's control.'" Br. of Appella:nt at 67. 

She argues, in effect, that only emergency situations ~der the full text of 1he pattem instruction 

.appropriate, citing commentary in the pattem instructions and Hood v. W'Uliamson, 7 Wn. .App. 

35.5, 362, 499 p .2d 68 (1972) e£t]he most .common insbmce where a violation of a statute has 

been held to be due to a cause bc;yQD.d the viol.$>r., s control, which reasonable prudence could 

·no1 have guarded against, is where the violation is excused by an emergency."). While Mattson 

is correct that an emergency is the most common :reason for finding a statutory violation be.yond 

the-violator's control, the fact that it is the most common demonstrates that an emergency is not 

the exclusive reason for finding a violation beyond the violator's ·control. 

APES and Stadtherr introduced evidence that supported an argument that the fai1¥re of 

the bungee cord Was beyond their control This evidence included LeWis's testimony about 

APES's and Stadtberr's compliance with. federal and state regulations, Stadtherr's testimony that 
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he inspected the bungce cord and that it appeared in good worldng condition, his testimony that 

he would replace bungee cords that did not appear to be in good WOl'ldng.condition, and the 

testimony from both ·Stadfherr and Mazza that they bad never seen a buDgee cord break while in 

motion. From this the jmy could infer that Stadtherr exercised ordinary care and tba,t the 

breaking of the bungee cord was a simple mechanical :fai.lme that could occur "w.itllout any fault 

on the part of the person in charge of the vehicle." Brotherton, 192 Wash. at 3 75. With this 

evidence, the irlal.court was required to give ±he optionall~e in the instruction.regarding a 

violat;i.on beyond the con1rol of APES and Stad.therr so they could argue theirtbeocy of the case. 

Aftmon, 174 Wn.2d at 860. 

We find no error in the trial court's decision to use the full patiem i:nstruction. 

B. Conflict between Instruction 16 and Res 1psa Loquitur Instruction 12 

Mattson also contends that instruction 16 contradicted instruction 12, the res ipsa loquitur 

instruction, and negated the july's ability to apply res ipsa loquitur to ber claim. We disagree. 

AB set out above, instruction 16 proviAOO: 

The violation, if any. of a statute or iegulation is not necessarily 
negligence, but may be considered by you as evidence in deterruining negligence. 

Such a:violation may be excused if it is due to some cause beyond the 
violator's control, and that ordinary care could not have guarded against. 

.cp at2645. 1nstruction 12 provided: 

If you find that: 
(1) the copj.sion in this case is of a 1dnd that ordinarily does not happen in 
the absence ofsomecme's negligence; and 
(2) the collision was caused by an agency Or instrumentality within the · 
exclusive cqntrol of the defendant(s); 

then,.in the absence of satis:factory explanation, you may infer, but you arc not 
required to infer, thai the defendant(s) were negligent.· 

CPat2614. 
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Mattson alleges that the language added to instruction 16 at APES's request negated the 

jury's ability to find negligence under res ipsa loquitur. She cites two cases in support of her 
. . 

contention that the court erred by giving irreconcilable instructions, Galvan v. Prosser Packers, 

Inc., 83 Wn.2d 690,521 P id 929 (1974) and Hall v. Corporation of Catholic .Archbishop of 

Seattle, 80 Wn.2d 797,498 P .2d 844 (1972). Neither supports her-claim. 

In Galvan, a negligence and products liabili:cy' case, the court gave an instruction on the 

manufacturer"'s liabilitr, which depended partly on the defective product proximately causing the 

p]aintifi's injury. 83 Wn.2d at 691-93. The only definition of proximate cause came in the 

co~'s general instructions on negligence. Galvcin, 83 Wn.2d at 693. 'fb:e Galvan court held the 

1rial court erred becaUse foreseeability meant different 1bings in negligence and strict Jiabiley 

claims and the general negligence Ulstruction .defined "foresceabilitr in the context of strict 

liability in too broad .a sense."' Galvan, 83 Wn..2d at 693. Because the jury would have used the 

br.o~ general negligence definition of foreseeability to evaluate the products liability c~ the 

Galvan court held that the 1rial court gave inconsistent and prejudi.cial instructions. 

In Han, a negligence and negligence per se suit, the trial comt instructed the jury that 1he 

breach of a statute was negligence, and instructed it that negligence per se "ba[d] the same effect 

as any other act of negligence." 80 Wn.2d at 803. A related iDstruction informed 1hcjury tbat 

the Seattle building code imposed certain statutmy duties on landowners. Hall, 80 Wn..2d at 798. 

However, a fourth instrootion, given in the context of general negligence, infoimcd the jury that 

a property 

owner is under no duty to reconstru.ct or alter the premises so as to obviate known 
and obvious dangexs, nor is he liable ~r injury to an invitee resulting from a 
danger which was obvious or should have been observed in the exercise of 
reasonable care. 
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Hall, 80 Wn.2d at 803. The court}\eld that the 1rial court's instruction that tbejm;y should treat 

general and statutory negligence the same meant tbat the fomth ins1ructi.on essentially 1old 1he 

jury to find p.o liability under the then existing law of negligence per se despite the breach of a 

statutory duty. Hall, 80 Wn.2d at 803. The court reversed based on the contradictory 

instructions. Hall, 80 Wn.2d at 803-04. 

Vnlike ~e instructions in Galvan and Hall, iD.structions 12 and 16 here do not create an 

error whcnxead together. Instruction 16 allowed, but did not require, the jury to excuse any 

statutory violation. It described the ciicumstances under which the jury could conclude that, 

despite a statutory violati<ms APES and Stadtherr had not acted neglig~y4 Similarly, as . 

discussed above, res ipsa loquitur allows, but does not -require. 8n inference of negligence. 

Instruction 12 properly described til¥ ciroumstances wher.e the jurj collld conclude that 

Mattson's accident spoke for itself in terms of showbm APBS"s and Stadtherr' s negligence. The 

jmy could freely conclude that APES and Stadtb.err were negligent under one 1heory and not the 

.other, negligent under both, or not negligent .under eitb.er. There is no conflict between the 

·C. Proposed Instruction 14: Nondelegable Duty 

Mattson next contends that the trial court en:ed by refusing to give her proposed 

instruction 14. Th.&t instnlction would have informed the jury that federal regulations imposed a 

nondelegable duty requiring APES to-prevent its "load or cargo" from "drop[ping], spill[ing], or 

leak[ing] ... on the roadway." CP at 1196. 

Mattson offers no reason why the trial court abused its disc:retion in failing to give :tJrls 

instruction other than stating 1hat testimony supported it. While wimesses did testify about the. 
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nondelegable nature of the duty, APES did not contest tb.e issue and giving the insttuction would 

therefore have constituted error. State v. Fernandez, 29 Wn. App. 278,281, 628 P .2d 827 (1981) 

(1rial court errs by giving an instruction on an undisputed issue). Further, we consider the 

~ency of jury instructions as a whole. Ins1ructions 13 through 19.spoke ofthe duties owed 

in driving or ~loads on a vehicle. Instruction 4 informed the jury that the law of agency 

·imputed any breach of these duties by Stadtherr to APES. The jury instructions as a whole 

allowed Mattson to argue her theory of n9Ildelegability, and the trial court did not abuse its 

discretion in declining to give pn)po~ed instruction 14. 

D. Instruction 5: Fault of<>thcr Entities 

Mattson next alleges that the trial court erred in giving its instruction '5 in ihe place ofher 

proposed instruction 3A. These instructions concemed the fault of entities other than the 

defendants. Mattson contends that the trial court's instruction allowed APES to impermissibly 

argue that some other entity caused Mattson's collision. We find no abuse of discretion in giving 

instruction 5 .and declining to give Mattson,' s proposed in.s1ruction. 

· As discussed, Mattson argued 1hat1he trial coUrt should prevent APES and Stadtherr from 

contesting that oil it spilled bad caused her accident on remand. The trial comt, however, 

refused 1o preclude or estop APES and Stadtherr from doing so. Mattson then moved to restrict 

APES •s ability to argue causation in other ways. She moved in limine for an order stating tbat 

"[i]t is ORDERED, ADJUDGED, AND DECREED that the Plaintiff's motion to preclude any 

argument, reference, or insinuation regardjng any comparative fault of the Plaintiff or any other 

third party apart from the named Defendant's shall be and is hereby GRANTED." CP at 1460. 
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When the parties met with the trial court to discuss tbe motions in limine, APES and 

Stadtherr objected to Mattson's motion for fear that it would foreclose their ability to argue they 

were not at fault, resulting in the following exchange: 

[Mattson's counsel]: Your honor, there's no evidence that there are any other 
1mDamed parties. I don't even believe they pled that. I have to look up their 
answer. That's never been an issue. 
And that's the whole point is that, oh, well, there's this other random person that 
could be responsible for this collision. You don't get to bring that up the day 
before trial. That's- . 
[APES's counsel]: U's not the day ~#ore trial. If we didn't leave a 2()()..foot 
diesel black oil slick on the roadway, somebody did. 
[Mattson's counsel]: It's either that they're DQgligent or they're not. That's what 
it comes down to. They don't get to point to an absent per&On. 

And again, we're getting back into the speculation [about other causal 
actors], and this is the whole reason [for the motion in limine.] 
[APES"s counsel]: It's not pointing to an absent person to say that we didn't 
do it, and if it's there somebody else did it I mean, that's not pointing to the fault 
of an unnamed party. 
[Mattson's counsel]: Not only that, Yom Honot. The nile actually Tequires you 
name a specific unnamed party. They haven't done that. There isn't anybody 
else. This is - and I move to dismiss any claim 1hat they're going to attempt to 
make right now. . 
[The Comt]: W.ell, thai's not their point. At least that's not what I. heard arguing. 
We're back to where you were before. . 
[APES's .counsel]: Exactly.. I just don"t want to be foreclosed by this from you 
exercisingyom discretion as the evidence comes in. 
[The Court]: Right. 

VRP at ·119-21. The trial comt m.odi,fi.ed Mattson's proposed order so that it proscn'bed 

"argument, reference, or insinuation regarcling any comparative fault of the Plaintiff or any other 

named third party a.part from the D8Illed Defendants." CP at 1460 (emphasis added). 6 

6 Mattson's brief repeatedly quotes the language of the trial co~'s order, but modifies it so that 
it reads "[un]named" instead of "named." Br. of Appellant at 78, 93 n.20; CP at 1460. The trial 
court~ "named" in the order quite deh'bera.tely and there is no reading of the record that 
renders Mattson's alteration faithful to what happened at trial. 

23 



. 
I 

.I . 

No. 43735..()..11 

read: 

Based on her proposed order on 1b.e motian in limine, Mattson's proposed instruction 3A 

You are instructed that the Court bas determined that Plaintiff is nOt in any 
way HI: fault f9r this collision. nor are there any mmamed parties that are in any 
way responsible ·fo.r this collision, and therefore, you are not to consider the fault 
of anyone other than the named Defendants in determining your verdict in this 
case. 

CP at 1440. Given its ruling in li;mine. the trial oourt instead gave its i.nstru¢on 5, which 

provided only that "[y ]ou are instructed that the Court has dctmmined that Plaintiff is not in any 

way at fauh fortbis collision." CP Ht2634. 

Mattson clBims that the failure to give proposed ~on 3A constituted error because 

1t 1eft her unable to argue that no o:fher enti1y could have caused her accident, meaning the jury · 

instructions prevented her ~m arguing her tb.eorj of the case. Mattson analogizes hez case to 
. . 

Jzettv. Wallcer, 67 Wn.2d903, 410P.2d 802 (1966). This analogy, however, is not sound. 

In Izett the plaintiff made an emergency stop; the defendant failed to do so and rear­

ended the plain1iff. 67 Wn.2d at 9()4.:()6. The trial comt f.ound the defendant negligent as a 
. . 

matter of law and, based on this· finding, refused to instruct the jmy, in accordance with the 

plaintif:r s request, thai the defenaan.t was negligent because the ·law reqUired following diivers to 

maintam sufficient distance in case of an emergency stop. Izett, 67 Wn.24 at 906-07. The jury 

returned a verdict for the ·defendant, apparently based on the plainti:ff's contributory negligence 

in making the emergency stop or because the jury found the plaint:ifr s emergency stop had 

proximately caused the accident. Izett, 67 Wn.2d at 904, 908. The plaintiff appealed, clamrlng 

that the instructions did not ·allow him to ~ his case that the defendant was negligent and that 

he had no comparable fault despite his emergency stop. The Jzett court agreed and held that the 
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failure to give the instruction on the def~'s negligence required.reversal of the verdict 

because "without this instruction [on the defendant's statutory duty to follow a:t a safe distance] 

the jmy could not properly evaluate an,y claims of Contributory negligence and proximate cause 

on the part of [the plaintiff' It] conduct." Izett, 67 Wn.2d a:t 906-07. 

This case differs markedly from Izett. unlikC the trial court in Izett, ·the trial court here 

gave the jury 1he instructions necessary for Mattson to make her case to the jmy. The trial court 

ins1ructed the jury on APES and Stadtherr's common law and statutory duties, the standard of 

conduct they needed to ~ere tO :in order to sa~fy those duties, and proximate .cause. These 

:instructions allpwed Mattson to argue her theory of the case, that she experienced an injury 

proximately caused by oil that APES and ·Stadtbert ~ly allowed 1o fall onto I-.:5. The 

evidence in connection with the instructions on proximate cause allowed her to argue that APES 

bad caused the accident and 1hat no. o1her entity had done so. Mattson~s propos¢ alte:rnative 

instruction; on the other hand, directly contradicted the order in limine. The trial court did not 

err in issuing instruction 5 instead of proposed instruction 3A. 

E. Proposed Instruction 23A: Spoliation 

M8uson "DeXt argues that 1he trlal court erred in refusing to give a spoliation instruction. 

She contends th!tt APES's discarding of the broken bungee cord and truck hose, disposing of the 

truck before she could take pictures of it, and failure to retain the pre- and postM1rip repOrts · 

constituted the willful destruction of evidence and that the trial court should have instructed the 

jmy it could infer APES destroyed evidence damaging to its defense. 
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Turning first tci the filets, 8fter the incident Stadtherr put the broken bungee cord in the 

truck along with the broken hose. A day later, he disposed of-both because they were "brolamu 

and "useless." VRP (Apr. 2, 2012) at 869~70; VRP (Mar.29, 2012) at 587. 

APES retained the pre- and post-1rip reports for several years after the accident. The 

experts at trial testified 1hat APES had a statutory duty to preserve these reports for some time, 

although the testimony conflicted as to whether that duty required retention for three or six 

months. At some point in 2006, APES moved to a paperless file retention system due to office 

space constraints. APES apparently planned to scan all of its older files to store them 

electronically before disposing of the physical copies.· However, this effort required _extensiYe . , 

time and effort arid APES abandoned it before scanning the files .relevant to Msttson•s suit, the 

2003 files. By the time Mattson asked for the files, APES had purged them. 

The parties contested whether APES knew ofMattson's suit~ should therefore have 

retained the.trip logs until the completion of the litigation. ~n did not file suit until2006; 

APES claimed 1hat it bad no knowledge of any possible litigation until then. Mattson, however, 

argued 1bat APES was on notice because it had received il traffic ticket fining it for causing her 

accident 

In 2007, after filing suit, Mattson asked APES to set up the tanker 1ruck ·m the 

configuration used the day of the accident so that she could photograph it Mazm agreed on 

behalf of APES. Mattson sent an investigator out to take the photos. Apparcmtly, the 

investigator was ejected from APES's property after an employee called Mazza to report the 

incident and Mazza became upset, feeling that this violated the agreement with Mattson. Mazza 

explained that APES had not prepared the 1ru.ck and that Mattson's investigator was taking 
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inaccurate photographs. APES sold the truck soon after the ¥dent and before Mattson ever 

obtained photographs. 

At. trial, Mltttson moved for a spoliation instruction. After hearing signifi~ argumBilt 

and testimony in and out of the presence of the jmy, the trial comt declined to give the 

instructiori.. 

Spoliation entails "the intentional destruction of evidence." Tavai v. W a/mart Stores, 

Inc.-9 176 Wn. App. 122, 134, 307 P .3d 811 (2013). 

"[W]here relevant evidence which would properly be part of a case is within the 
control of. a party whose interests it would naturally be to produce it and he fails 
to do so, without satistactory explanation, ~ only inference which the finder of 
fact may draw is 1bat such evidence would be unfavorable to him." 

Tavai, 176 Wn. App. at 134-35 (quoting Pier 67, Inc. v. King COlD'JOI, 89 Wn.2d 379, 385-86, 

573 P .2d 2 (1977)). Courts must determine whether to instruct the jury on the unfavorable 

inference allowed by spoliation ·baSed. an1wo f~: ''the potential importance or relevance of 

1he missing evidence" and "the culpability or fault of the adverse party."' Tavai, 176 Wn. App. at 

135. We re\1i.ew a trial court".s refusal to _give :a spoliation lnst:rootion for .an abuse of discreti.on. 

·Tavr.ii, 176 Wn. App. at 135. 

The trial court reasonably determined that11.0 spoliation occurred regarding the bungee 

cord and hose. Courts ha.vo repeatedly held that the cumulative or insignificant nature of 

physical evidence Weighs against a finding of spoliation. Ripley v. Lanzer, 152 Wn. App. 296, 

326, 215 P .3d 1020 (2009) (no spoliation where testimony provides the same information offered . . . 

by the evidence); Homeworks Constr., Inc. v. Wells, 133 Wn. App. 892, 899, 138 P .3d 654 · 

(2006) (testimony providing same infoonation as. evidence weighs against a finding of spoliation 

under the first element). Here, the trial court determined that the physical evidence was 
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cumulative with testimony or, given other factors, insignificant Stadtherr admitted that the 

bungee cord had mptured and allowed the hose to escape its housing. Stadtherr also testified that 

the hose, after coming loose, had dropped down, tom open on contact with the truck's tires, and 

dragged behind him while he drove on 1~5. Finally, no one took samples from the·on slick on1-

S, so examination of the hose would likely not answer the questi~n of whether the oil came from 

APES's truck. 

The trial court reasonably determined that no spoliation occurxed with regard to the 

disposal of the truck. The 1rial court determined that APES.bad some culpabili1;y for the lost 

evidence because Mattson had specifically asked for permission to photograph the 1rUck and, 

while Mattson had not complied witJ:t APESYs procedures for· taking these photos, APES bad sold 

the truck before letting Mattson take the pictures. We.a~ that APES's decision to sell the 

truck before Mattson took her pictures is troubling. However, the trial court noted that the 

plaintiffs had other photos and from them everyone seemed to understand what the truck looked 

like on the day of the accident. Again, the cumulative nature of the evid~. supported ,the 1ria1 

court's refusal to give a spoliation instruction. 

· Finally, the 1Iia1 court reasonably determined that no spoliation occurred with regard to 

the pre- and post-trip reports: A party need not show bad faith to establish spoliation under the 

second spoliation factor, the factor concerned with the culpability of the adverse party. Wells, 

133 Wn. App. at 900. However, where no bad faith is shoWllt the second spoliation factor only 

weighs against a party who violates a duty to preserve the evide.nce. Wells, 133 Wn. App. at 

900. The 1rial court fotm.d no culpabilitY. on APES •s part because it had preserved the reports 
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long ·after they ·needed to under federal and state law and bad no specific knowledge of any suit 

filed by Mattson when they disposed of their files. The record supports this determination. 

F. Jnstroction 12: Res lpsaLogp.itur · 

Mattson also alleges that tb.e·1rial court erred by giving instruction 12 instead of her 

proposed instruction 7. Mattson contends that the evidence entitled her to ba.ve the jury 

instructed "on the doctrine of Res Ipsa Loquitur as a matter of law~ instructing the jury.' to 

apply the doctrine permisst'bly. Br. of Appellant at 85. Mattson is mistaken. 

Mattson's origow proposed instruction on res ipsa loquitur read: 

The Courtbas determined that 
(1) the accident in this case is of a kind 1hat ordiDarily does not happen in 

the absence of someone' s negligence; 
(2) the accident was caused by an agency or instrumentality within the 

exclusive control of the defendants; and 
(3) the accident Was not in any way due to an act or omission of the 

plaintiff; . 
Therefore, in the absenoe of sat:is:tilctoey explanation, you may infer, but you are 
not required to infer, that the defendant was negligent. 

CP at 1197. The 1ria1 ~tnt rejected this instruction, and Mattson proposed.the alternate res ipsa 

instruction given by the comt as its instruction 12. As noted, this instruction, taken from the 

-pattem ins1ructions read: 

If you find that: 
(1) 1he accident in this case is of a kind that ordinarily does not happen in 

the absence of someone's negUgence; 
(2) the accident was caused by. an .agenqy or instrumentality within the 

exclusive control of the Defendant(s). 
Then, in the absence of sa1isfJJCtory exp~on, you may infct, but you 

are not required to infer~ that the DefrJJdant(s) were negligent. 

CP at2641; see 6 WASHINGTONPRACTICB,supra, § 22.01, at255. 
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The applicabiljzy of the doctrine of res ipsa loquitur is a question of law. Lein, 169 

Wn.2d at 889. As noted, res ipsa loquitur allows the jury to infer negligence where 

(1) the accident or occurrence that caused the pl.ainti:ff' s injury would not 
ordinarily bappen in the absence of negligence, (2) the inst:nJme.utali or agency 
that caused the plaintiff's injury was in the exclusive control of the defendant, and 
(3) the plaintiff did not contribute to the accident or occurrence.7' 

Lein, 169 Wn.2d at 891. 

1b.e 1iial comt's role was to determine whether Mattson met her burden of production on 

the res ipsa loquitur issue. See_Letn, 169 Wn.2d at 889. The trial court determined that she did 

so and_ga.ve an instruction on res ipsa loquitur. As discussed above~ the evidence did not entitle 

Mattson to judgment as a matter of law on the issue of negligence. The jury therefore needed to 

resolve questions of fact and it was for the jury to determine whether Mattson7 s evidence 

satisfied her burden of proof. See Lein, 169 Wn.2d at 895. Ma:ttson"'s proposed instruction 

falsely instructed the jury that t1ie 1ria1 court had already determined that the central elements of 

res ipsa loquitur were met By giving 1his instruction the trial comt would have impermissib~y 

usm:pcd tbejur.f.s function. The trial court's rejection of this invitation was not an abuse· of 

."discretion. 

IV. CoTJNSBLM!SCONDUCI' 

Mattson also alleges that miseonduct by defense counsel requires a new 1rial under CR 

59( a). Mattson alleges that APES's counsel made repeated speaking objections, argued that an 

unnamed party caused Mattson's accident in spite of the court's order in Jimine, argued about the 

circumstances of Mattson's retention of an counsel in spite of the court's order in limine, and 

made an improper comment during closing argument. We find no grounds for rev~g the 

jury's verdict. 
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CR 59(a)(2) 8Uows a ''new trial where misconduct of the prevailing party materially 

affects the Sllbstantial rights of the losing party." Teter v. Deck, 174 Wn.2d 207, 222, 274 P .3d 

336 (2012). Reliefbased on a counsel misconduct claim requires a showing that "(1) the 

conduct complained of is misconduct, (2) the misconduct is prejudicial, (3) the moving party 

objected to the misconduct at trial, and ( 4) the misconduct was not cured by the court's 

in.structjons." Teter, 174 Wn.2d at226. We review a trial comt's decision on a .motion for anew 

~ undez CR 59(aX2) for an Jbuse of discretion. Teter, 174 Wn.2d at 222. We apply a 

specialized test for.an abuse of discretion and ask whether the misoonduot "bas [created] sucb.a. 

feeling of prejudice .. ~ in the minds of the juzy as to prevent a litigant from 1Jav!ng ~ fair trial.~ 

.Aluminum Co. of A.m. v. Aetna Cas. ·& Sur. Co., 140 Wn.2d 517, "537., 998 P .2d 856 (2000). 

A. Speaking Objections 

Mattson :first alleges tbs1 APES's counsel committed misconduct by repeatedly makjng 

speaking objections. We agree, but nonetheless deny Mattson's motion for.a new trial because 

we defer to the trial comt's determination that the objections did not prejudice her. 

· .Cormsel commits misconduct by attempting to present the jury with inadmissible 

evidence or impermissible argument. Teter~ 174 Wn.2d at 223, 224 n.12. ·Speaking objections 

can ·"expos( e] the jury to inadm'i ssible evidence and inappropriate argument'' and therefore 

constitute misconduct Teter, 174 Wn.2d at 224 n.12. APES's COUDBCl repeatedly made 

speaking objections an~ the trial coUrt admonished him for ~ing so. 

However, the trial court specifically determined that the speaking objections did not 

create prejudice. sufficient to warrant a new trial. Because the trial comt has the best vantage . . 

point to evaluate the prejudicial effects of any misConduct, we give deference to .its findings 
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concerning prejudice. Teter, 174 Wn.2d at 223 (citing State v. Lord, 111 Wn.2d 829, 887~ 822 

P.2d 177 (1991)). Given this deference, and because the speaking objections do not seem to 

have exposed the jury to any prejudicial and ~sible ev\dence, we find no abuse of the 1ria1 

court's discretion in denying Matbron's motion for a new trial on this :basis. See Teter, 174 

Wn.2d at 223. 

B. Violation of Order on the Motion in Limine About Other Causal Actors 

Mattson next claims misconduct through violations of the trial court's order forbidding 

insinuating fault by third parties in causing Mattson's accident. The trial court Bnowed the 

arglJment MattSon now obj~ to end we find no misconduct · 

MattSon sought an order in limine preventing APES and Stadtherr from arguing they had 

not caused her accident. As discussed above, the court rejected Mattson's propo~ language 

and instead ordered that the defendants could not argue that ''named" third parties caused 

Mattson"'s accident, allowing the defendants to argue unnsmed third parties had done so. Thus, 

the explicit terms of the order at issue allowed the argument that Mattson objects to, ths:t APEs 

did not cause the oil slick and so tmnamed parties must have done so. There was no misconduct, 

and the trial c,:ourt did not abuse Its disczetion in denying Mattson"'s motion for a new 1rlal. 

C. Motion in Limipe Regarding Mattson's Retention of Her Coup.sel 

Mattson next alleges misconduct through Violations of the 1ria1 court~s order forb~ 

discussion of~ ciroQmstances under which~ retained her counsel. Again, the trial court 

explicitly permitted APES to introduce the argum¢ and evi~ce Mattson now objects to. 

Again, we find no misconduct 

32 



I 
I 

I 
I 
I 

I 
!. 

: 

I 

j· 

I 

No. 43735~0-TI 

Before trial, Mattson sought an order in limine forbidding discussion of the 

circumstances ofher hiring of~ counsel. The trial court granted the order, which excluded 

evidence regarding the ciroomstances surrounding Plaintiff's hiring counsel, 
including, _but' not limited to, my professiomd, business, &milial, or· friendship 
relationships between Plaintifi{s) and/or Plaintiffs" witnesses ... for [the] 
purposes of trial testimony with the possible exception of [the] spoliation issue 
outside the Presence of the jury. 

CP at 1459. Mattson's counsel, in her opening statement, discussed the testimony the jury would 

hear and the physical evidence it wou14 not have. Specifically, she stated that 

[w]ha:t you won't have ;,s the ruptured hose because it wa8 thrown away and 
c.kstroyed by the defcndents. 

We won't have the bungce cord that broke ·because that was never- well, 
I don't know ifit was destroyed or thrown a~y. 

And one of the other things that you won't have . . . is . . . a pre-trip 
inspection report. . . . Thaes been thrown away. We don .. t have that from the 
date to show what they did or did not do on that day. And that was destroyed. 

VRP (Mar. 28, 2012) at 448. Six ·sentences it,tto his opening statement, APES's counsel 

.addressed.the missing evidence, .stating that "after [the] accident almost three years pass until my 

client was sued. And we"'llleave it to your decision llS to wh.,-tb.er or not that explains 'Mly ·some 

tlUngs we"'d dearly like to have for you don •t exist.., ·VRP (Mar. 28, 2012) at 452. When counsel 

apin referenced the destroyed evidence, Mattson's counsel objected. APES~s ciounsel 

responded that Mattson's counsel bad opened the door. The trial comt.ovemJled the objection 

on that basis. VRP (March28, 2012) at468, 615-16. 

During the presentation of evidence, APES's counsel asked Mattson how long it was 

after the ~dent that she spoke with counsel about filing suit. She 8IlS\Wl'ed that she had done 

so within six mon~ but admitted that she did not know if e'ounsel had asked APES to preserve 
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their.records. Mattson's counsel later sought a curative instruction outs~ the presence of the 

jury: 

[Mattson's counsel]: Your Honor, · ... I specifically objected-
and I apologize, but I had to make numerous objections, because ..• 
[APES's counsel] went into when did you hire counsel and was it our 
firm. None of tbat queStioning is appropriate. But it. certainly wasn't 
appropriate in light of the fact that I made a specific motion and the Court 
ordered speci:ficalJ.y that notbing going into the circumstances of hiring 
counsel would be discussed or would be prone to questimrlng. . . • It was a 
violation of the order in limine. 

[The Court]: [asking APES's counsel for his argument]. 
[APES's counsel]: rm sorry., Your Honor. I don't believe it 

was a violation of the order. 
I didn't ask about the circumstances smroundi.ng it. All I asked 

about was the timing. 

[The Court]: That's howl read the order, too. I was aware of the 
order, but I didn't tbiDk it had to deal with the circumstatwcs of hiring of 
counsel; circumstances were they brothers, were they cousins, did you 
kno~ them from some other source, those kinds of things were 1he 
circumstances. What are the terms of your fee agreement. I read it, and I 
- -I read that exactly what I intended, which was those kind of 
circumstances are certainly not relevant to anything. 

VRP (Apr. 2, 2012) at 916-19. Th~ 1rial court denied Mattson's request for a curative instruction 

on the ground that there was no violation of the order in limine. 

Again, the:trial comt specifically allowed APES to make the arguments and .admit the 

evidence that Mattson now objects to. Even if we read the order in limine as forbidding evidence 

or argument about when Mattson first saw counsel, the trial court determined that Mtrttson 

opened the door to it, rendering the evidence admissible, with her argument that APES had 

destroyed evidence. See State v. Young, 158 Wn. App. 707,719,243 P.3d 172 (2010) (a party 

can open the door to the other party admitting otherwise inadmissible evidence). APES's 

counsel committed no misconduct. 
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D. Closing Argument 

Finally, Mattson alloges that a statement by APES's counsel during cl~ argument 

requires a new 1rial.. We agree that APES's counsel committed misconduct but disagree that the 

misconduct entitles Mattson to a new trial. 

Closing arguments m this case apparently stretched 0:n for some time, and the trial comt 

mged Mattson's counsel to wrap things up on several occasions. After one of these admonitions, 

the following exchange occurred: 

[Mattson's counsel]: Let me just finish up, if I may, Your Honor. 
[Trial comt]: Quickly. 
[Mattson~s cc;nmsel]: The preponderance of the evidence in this 

case is, ladies and gentlemen, m~ probably 1rue than not true that they 
dropped the oil and they caused ~ accident, and we're here asking you 
to finally, after nine years, assess full responsibility and accOuntability. 

That's what we call atonement Atonement is not just to s~ I did 
it It's to take responsibility for it. That's why we need you. 

Arid you know, the last thing I'll show you, and I don't need to 
make-mean to make light ofthings, but-

[APES's counsel]: You know, I thought we were done here, Your 
Honor. He's long past his time that you allotted both of us. 

[Mattson's counsel]: Yom Honor, he doesn1t'like my argument so 
he's trying to iiltern.yJt me. 

Excuse me,. if! ~y. 
[AP~s counsel]: l"m hungry. 
[Mattson"s counsel]: TOQ.\lad if you want to go. This is important 

to my client, sir. 

VRP (Apr. 4, 2012) at 1218-19, 

APES's counsel committed misconduct when he stated, "''m hungry." VRP (Apr. 4, 

2012) at 1219. The statement was, charitably viewed, unprofessional. Mattson did not object, 

however, and a curative instruction telling the jury to disregard the remark could have obviated 

any prejudice it engendered. Mattson's failure to object under those circumstances :waives any 

claim of error. Teter, 174 Wn.2d at 226. Further, the trial court found that the statement did not 
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prejudice Mattson such that it should grant her a new trial. Again, the 1rial court saw the 

exchange, as-well as thcjUl'Ol"S' reaction to it, first hand and we defer to its detenninations for 
. . 

this reason. Teter, 174 Wn.2d at 223 (citing Lord, 117 Wn.2d at 887) . 

V. JURORMlsCONDUCI' 

Mattson next seeks a new trial UDder CR 59(a)(l) because of alleged juror misconduct. 

Specifically she contends 1hat the jury failed to follow the 1rial court's instroctions about 

dehDerations and that juror 107 failed to honestly answer questions during voir dire and then 

uyected ex1Jinsio·evidence into delibera1ions. We review a 1rial court"'~ detenninations on the 

existence of juror.misconduct and its ~judicial etre,ct for .an abuse of discretion. Richards v. 

Overlake Hosp. Med. Ctr., 59 Wa.· App. 266, 271, 796 P .2d 737 (1990). Under that standard, we 

find no error in the trial comt's denial of Mattson's motion for a new trial based on: these 

allegations. 
. . 

Before voir dire, the comt submitted Mattson"'s juror questionnaire to the venire. One of 

the questions asked potential jurors to disclose whether they "or someone close" to them had .. 

worked in any of the listed 10 fields. CP at 3 8. One of these fields was "law enforcement." cP · 

at 38. Potential juror 19 :filled out the questionn.alre'by stating1hatneitb.erbe nor anyone close to 

hlm had worlced in any of the fields. · 

During voir dire, Mattson questioned two of the potential jurors who had disclosed a 

"history of employment with law enforcement. One potential juror worked as an armed guard at 

Joint Base Lewis-McChord and bad previously served as ~air marshal. Mattson's counsel 

asked about the juror's experience in investigating accidents and determining fault. Another 

7 Juror 10 was designated as potential juror 19 before being seated. Thus, those references in this 
opinion are to the same person. 
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poteni:ialjuror had worked as a. community corrections officer. Again, Mattson's counsel asked 

about investigations the juror had perform.ed within the scope of his employment 

APES's counsel later asked whether any of the potential jmors bad "investigative 

experience as a private investigator, as a. member of~w enforcement, or as a military law 

enforoement, investigating a. potential crime or accident, anything of that nature?" v:RP (Mar. 

27, 2012) at 365-66. PoteJrtialjuror 19 did not respond. 

· Mattson,s counsel did speak directly to potential juror 19 during voir dire. Mattson's 

counsel him ifhe had "[a.]ny concerns .•. about any of the topics we've discussed here?" VRP 

(Mar. 28, 2012) at 421. Potential juror 19 stated 1hat he did not. Given his answers, the parties 

did not challenge potential jmor 19, and the 1rial court seated him as juror 10. 

After the verdict, juror 6 signed a declaration alleging two different types of juror 

misconduct. First, juror 6 stated that the jurors had failed to follow the·proper prooeciures for 

deh'berating and voting on Mattson's claims. Second, juror 6 declared 1hat jmor 10 had failed to 

disclose his experience as an inv~ for tbe Occupational Safet;y and Health. Administration 

(OSHA) during voir dire. According to juror 6, during deliberations juror 10 discussed OSHA 

· investigative standards and stated that he could not find APES or Stadtherr negligent because 1he 

investigation into Mattson"'s accident failed tO comply With those standards. Based on the 

declaration from juror 6, Mattson moved for a new trial because of juror misconduct. The trial 

court denied Mattson's motion. 

A party may obtain a new 1rial based on claims of juror misconduct. State v. Baliso~ 123 

Wn.2d 114, 117-18,866 P.2d 631 (1994). Ajuror commitsmiscondu.ctduringvoir dire by 

misrepresenting :material facts or by failing to disclose material facts. McCoy v. Kent Nwsery, 
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Inc., 163 Wn. App. 744. 760, 260 P.3d 967 (2011) (citing Robinsonv. Safeway Stores, Inc., 113 

Wn.2d 154, 158, 776 P .2d 676 (1989)). To obtain a new trial for such misconduct, a party must 

show "that [the] juror ':tailed to answer honestly a material question on voir dire, and then further 

show that a correct response ~have provided. a valid basis for a. challenge for cause.'" 

McCoy~ 163 Wn. App. at 761 ('luotiug McDonough PQWer Equip., 1m:. v. Greenwood, 464 U.S. 

548,555-56, 104 S. Ct. 845,78 L. Ed. 2d 663 (1984) and (citing In re Pers. Restraint of Elmore, 

162 Wn.2d~6, 267" 172 P .3d 335 (2007)). 

A juror may also commit misconduct .by injecting extrinsic evidence into july 

deliberations .. Balisok, 123 Wn.2d at 118. If a juror does so, a trial court may grant a new. trial if· 

the losing' party makes a "'strong affirmative showing of misconduct'" that· overcomes the policy 

considerations prOtecting secret jury deliberations. Breckenridge v. Valley Gen. Hosp., 150 

Wn.2d 197,203,75 P.3d 944 (2003) (quotingBaltsok, 123 Wn.2d at 117-18). 

Because of the interest in"'~ frank and free discussion of the evidence by the jury.," 

"appellate courts will generally not inquire into 1he internal processes by which the jmy reaches 

its verdict." Brecke71Tidge, 150 Wn.2d at 203-04 (quoting Baltsok, 123 Wn.2d at 117-18). Th~ 

"'individual or collective thought processes 'leading to a verdict "iDherc in the verdict~' and 

cannot be used to impeach a jury verdict'" Breckenrldg~ 150 Wn.2d at 204-05 (quoting Stille v. 

Ng, 110 Wn.2d 32, 43, 750 P .2d 632 (1988)). To test wJaether post-verdiCt statements from a 

juror allegjng. misconduct concern matte.m inhering in the verdict, we look to whether the 

statements relate to "[t]he mental processes by which individual jurors reached their respective 

conclusions, their motives in aniving at their verdicts, the effect the evidence may have had upon 

the jurors or the weight particular jurors may have given to particular evidence, or the jmors' 
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intentions and beliefs." CO% v .. Charles Wright A.cad., Inc., 70 Wn2d 173, 179-80, 422 P .2d 51 S 

(1967). Alternatively, we look to "'~that to which the juror testifies can be rebutted by 

other testimony without probing the jmor's mental processes.'" Breckenridge, 150 Wn.2d at20S 

(quotin$ Gardner v. Malone., 60 Wn.2d 836, 841~ 376 P .2d 651 (1962)). 

We now tum to the merits of Mattson's allegations, mindful that we analyze the question 

of whether the matters she alleges inhere in the Verdict separately from the question of whether 

there was juror misconduct. Breclamridge, 150 Wn.2d at 204 n.12. 

A. · Failure to Follow the Jury Instructions 

Mattson first alleges tbejucy as a who~e improperly failed.to follow the trial court"s 

procedural instructions for reaching a verdict. The j~' s procedures for reaching its verdict, 

such as how it went .about voting, inhere ·in the verdict and a party cannot impeach 1he verdict 

based on these matters. Ayers v. Johnson & Johnson Baby Prods. Co., 117 Wn.2d 747, 768-70, 

818 P .2d 1337 (1991). We therefute cannot consida'juror 6's declaration as it relates to this 

allegation of juror Jl#sconduct. Without 'the declaration, Mattson can.otfer no evidence of any 

miscond.u&t. Oiven this lack of evidence, the 1ria1 court did not abuse its discretion in denying 

the motion for anew trial. 

B. Failwe tQ Disclose Employment History During Voir Dire 

Mattson next alleges that juror 10 fiW.ed to properly disclose his experience working for 

OSHA during voir dire. Because Mattson could prove juror 1 0' s previous employment as an 

OSHA inspector using testimony unconnected with the jury deliberations, this employment 

history does not inhere in the verdict. 
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We do not, however, agree with MattsOn that the juror failed to honestly 8IlSWel' 

questions during voir dire. Mattson's jury questionnaire as~ about past employment in "law 

\ 
cnfo:rccment." The courts have differed wildly about whether OSHA employees work in law 

enforcement Compare Matsko v. United States, 372 F.3d 556, 560 (3dCir. 2004) 

(administrative investigators are not law enforcement personnel for pmposes of the federal tort 

claims act "no matter wbat investigative conduct they are involved in") with Ortloff v .. United 

States, 335 F .3d 652, 659 (7th Cir. 2003) (mcluding OSHA employees among the "potential 

number of federal. law enforcement officials in our modem government's alphabet soup"), 

overr:uled on other grounds by Ali v. Fed Bureau ofPriso11S, 552 U.~. 214,128 S. Ct. 831, 169 

L. Ed. 2d 680 (2008). Since the courts cannot decide if an O~HA emp1oyee is a law 

enforcement official, we decline to find misconduct in a former OSHA employee's failure to 

identify himself as having worked in law enforcement. As APES argues, people commonly 

understand the term "law enforcement" to mean those agencies or persons swom:to uphold the 

state's laws and empo~red to m;rest people for violations of those laws. Juror 10 did not work 

in tbat capacity and did not commit' misconduct in answering his questionruiire to this effect. . . 

Mattson contends that, even if juror lO's answers to 1he jury questionnaire did not omi~ 

material information, other questions in voir dire should have caused him to disclose his· 

employment with OSHA. Other jurors did disclose law enforcement experience and Mattson's 

aud APES's counsel asked them and others about their experience in investigating accidents, 

crimes, and determining fault. Later, Mattson"s counsel asked juror 10 ifhe bad "[a]ny concerns 

... about any of the topics we've discussed here?" VRP (Mar. 28, 2012) at.421. Mattson 

contends that these questions required juror 10 to disclose his investigative experience. Mattson 
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asked juror 10, however, about "concerns" he had with the topics covered in voir dire. Various 

courts have suggested that a juror does not commit misconduct within the meaning of the 

McDonough test8 by failing to give the answer the asking party is lookiDg for with a vague 

question. E.g., Hatten v. Quarterman, 570 F.3d595, 602 (5th Cir. 2009) Guror does not commit 

misconduct by failing to answe.r that he had a "problem" with drugs when ~blem .. is 

ambiguous enough that it could refer, not to addiction, but to an "allergy or an aver:sion'1; State 

v. Chemel, 734 A.2d 1131, 1140-41 (Me. 1999)(finc1jngno.misleadinganswerin voir dire 

because of the ~s of the question). Juror 10 could have bad no "concerns" with those 

topics, meaning no. worry or fear, and answered the question honestly and correctly .even _if~ 

BSSUme he had law enforcement experience. The vagueness ofMattson., s question prevents 

finding misconduct. 

C. In1roduction of Bxttjnsjc Eyidence During Jury Deliberations 

Mattson alleges.thatjuror 10 committed further misconduct by discussing OSHA's 

investigative standards dming deh'bera:tion. The statements from juror 6 tb.at·Mattson cites 

explain the way that juror 10 weighed the evidence Mattson offered and why"he voted as he did. 

TheSe matters inhere m the verdict, and ~n may not use this evidence tO show jmor 

misconduct. Breckenridge, 150 Wn.2d at204-07; Cox, 70 Wn.2d at"l76-80; McCoy, 163 Wn. 

App. at 767-68. The trial court di~ not abuse its discretion in denying Mattson's motion for a 

new trial. 

8 McDonough Power Equip., 464 U.S. at 548. 
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VI. CUMuLATIVE ERRoR/SUBSTANTIAL JUSTICE 

Finally. Mattson seeks a new 1ria1, either based on Clunnla:tive error or because the jury 

verdict failed to do substantial justice. We deny Mattson's request for a new trial on these 

grounds. 

The doctrine of cumulative Cll'Or recognizes that_ multiple errors might combine to deny a 

litigant a fair trial, even where each individual en-or does not prejudice the litigant in isolation. 

Statev .. Davis, 175 Wn.2d287, 345, 290P3d4~ (2012); Stoteyv. Storey, 21 Wn. App:370, 374, 

585 P .2d 183 (1978) (applying cumulative Cll'or in the civil context). But even where multiple 

Cll'ors OCGm, we nc.ed not reverse on ct!Jil~ve. error if the errors "were not so egregious or. 

unduly prejudicial that they dCmed" the litigant a fair trial. Davis, 175 Wn.2d at 34'5. Here, at 

most the record ~tains some nonprejudicial errors related to counsel misconduct. These C1T01'S 

do not Combine to suggest 1hat Mattson did not :receive a fak trial. 

Mattson also seeks a new trial because "substantial justice has not bccn·done." CR 
' . 

59(1)(9). She cites Snyder 'V. Sotta, 3 Wn. App. 190, 473 P .2d 213 (1970), and claims that it 

holds that a high level of :rancor at trial warrants a new trial under CR. 59(a)(7). ~er's holdin,g 

proVides little support for Mattson. In Snyder, the tr1a1 court made extensive fiDdin~ about 1he 

multiple ways the parties' bittemess pervaded the1rial and infected the jury, preventing both 

sides from having a fair trial. 3 Wn. App. at 195-98. B~ on these findings, the trial court 

ordered a new trial. See Snyder, 3 Wn. App. at 195. Division Tlu:ee of our court a:ffirmed the 

grant of a new t:ri8l under former CR 59(f), which allowed new trials for failure to do substantial 

justice, because the trial comt was best situated to determine the effect of the rancorous 

atmosphere on the parties' rights to a fair1rial. Snyder, 3 Wn. App. at 191, 198-99. Here, the 
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trial comt explicitly found that the heated a1mo~ at trial did not prejudice 1he parties to a 

degree warranting a new trial. Snyder requires that we defer to that determination. 

CONCLUSION 

We find substantial evidence in the record to support the jmy's verdict. We therefore 
hold 1hat the trial court properly denied Mattson's motions for judgment as a matter of law under 

·CR 50 and for a new trial under CR 59. We hold 1hat the trial comt did not CIT in declixrlng to . 

preclude or estop APES and Stadthcrr from disputing causation on temand. We also ~old that 

1he trial comt did not err in instructing tb.e jmy~ Finally., we :find no basis for concltufing that the 

trial court abused its discretion in declining to order a new trial based on any counsel ~r jmor 

misconduct or for cumulative error or a failure 1o do substantial justice. We affirm. 
' . 

I A majori1;y of the panel having detm:nined 1bat this opinion will not be printed in the 

Washington Appella:te Reports, but will be filed for public record in accordance with RCW 

2.06.040, it is so.ordered. 

We concur: 

MAxA,. 
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